STATE AND DISTRICT JUDICIAL NOMINATION COMMISSION
AND OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR
JOINT JUDICIAL APPLICATION

Please complete this application by placing your responses in normal type, immediately beneath
each request for information. Requested documents should be attached at the end of the
application or in separate PDF files, clearly identifying the numbered request to which each
document is responsive, Completed applications are public records. If you cannot fully respond to
a question without disclosing information that is confidential under state or federal law, please
submit that portion of your answer separately, along with your legal basis for considering the
information confidential. Do not submit opinions or other writing samples containing confidential
information unless you are able to appropriately redact the document to avoid disclosing the
ideniity of the parties or other confidential information.

PERSONAL INFORMATION
1.  State your full name.

Bridget Alice Chambers

2.  State your current occupation or title. (Lawyers: identify name of firm, organization,
or government agency; judicial officers: identify title and judicial election district,)

Assigtant Attorney General, lowa Aftorney General’s Oflice

3.  State your date of birth (to determine statutory eligibility).

December 20, 1959

4.  State your current city and county of residence.

Webster City, Hamilton County, lowa

PROFESSTONAL AND EDUCATIONAL HISTORY

n

List in reverse chronological order each college and law school you atiended including
the dates of attendance, the degree awarded, and your reason for leaving each school
if no degree from that institution was awarded.

Doctor of Law, with distinction
University of Jowa College of Law
lowa City, lowa

1982-1985




Bachelor of Arts
Majors: Economics, French
University of lowa

Iowa City, lowa
1978-1982

6. Describe in reverse chronological order all of your work experience since graduating
from college, including:

a.

Your position, dates (beginning and end) of your employment, addresses of law
firms or offices, companies, or governmental agencies with which you have
been connected, and the name of your supervisor or a knowledgeable colleague
if possible.

Your periods of military service, if any, including active duty, reserves or other
status. Give the date, branch of service, your rank or rating, and present status
or discharge status.

Assistant Attorney General
Towa Attorney General’s Office
Hoover State Office Building
Des Moines, lowa
1990—present

[ have served in various divisions and capacities in the Attorney General’s Office.

I served in the office of the Prosecuting Attorneys Training Coordinator
from 1996-1992.

I have served in the Criminal Appeals Division from 1992 to the present. I
served as division director of the Criminal Appeals Division from May
1995 to October 1999.

[ served on an as-needed basis in the Administrative Law Division to
prosecute dependent adult abuse cases in 2003 and 2004.

Supervisors/Contacts::
Kevin Cmelik
(563) 940-2502

Darrel Mullins
(515)281-5976

Hamilton County Attorney
Webster City, lowa 19861990

Contact:Hon. David Danielson

david danilson(@iowacourts.gov
{(515) 348-4700 (Clerk of Court)




The Honorable Judge David Danilson, then a District Associate Court
judge, was the presiding judge in the majority of my cases in the trial courts
and would be able to speak to my effectiveness as a trial prosecutor.

Associate attorney, Bottorff & Van Doren Law Firm
Webster City, lowa
19851986

Supervisor/Contact: Both partners of the law firm are deceased, and the practice has
been closed.




List the dates you were admitted to the bar of any state and any lapses or terminations
of membership. Please explain the reason for any lapse or termination of membership.

I was admitted to the lowa Bar in June 1985, There has been no lapse in, or termination of,
my membership.

Describe the general character of your legal experience, dividing it into periods with
dates if its character has changed over the years, including:

a.

A description of your typical clients and the areas of the law in which you have
focused, including the approximate percentage of time spent in each area of
practice.

The approximate percentage of your practice that has been in areas other than
appearance before courts or other tribunals and a description of the nature of
that practice.

The approximate percentage of your practice that involved litigation in court
or other tribunals.

The approximate percentage of your litigation that was: Administrative, Civil,
and Criminal.

The approximate number of cases or contested matters you tried (rather than
scttled) in the last 10 years, indicating whether you were sole counsel, chief
counsel, or associate counsel, and whether the matter was tried to a jury or
directly to the court or other tribunal. If desired, you may also provide
separate data for experience beyond the last 10 years,

The approximate number of appeals in which you participated within the last
10 years, indicating whether you were sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate
counsel. If desired, you may also provide separate data for experience beyond
the last 10 years.

Since joining the lowa Attorney General’s Office in 1990, I have exclusively
represented the State of Iowa. My practice has been almost entirely in the area of
criminal law, with some administrative hearings.

1999-present [ currently serve as a staff attorney in the Criminal Appeals division.
Approximately 95% of my practice involves appellate litigation. The remaining 5%
of my work includes responding to prosecutors’ requests for advice on issues arising
in their cases and teaching and speaking on criminal law issues.

1995-1999  During this period, I served as director of the Criminal Appeals
Division. Approximately 25 % of my practice involved litigation in state and
federal appellate courts, including appeals before the 8" Circuit Court of Appeals
and an appeal in the United States Supreme Court. Approximately 75 % of my
practice was devoted to administrative matters, supervision of attorneys and
support staff, motion practice that did not require me to appear in court,
responding to requests for advice from county prosecutors, speaking and teaching
on criminal law issues, assisting with drafting legislation to be proposed by the



Attorney General, and reviewing bills filed with the lowa Legislature to assist the
Attorney General in determining whether to support or oppose legislation.

1992-1995  From 1992 to 1995, I served as a staff attorney in the Criminal
Appeals division. During that period, approximately 95% of my practice involved
appellate litigation. The remaining 5% of my work included responding to
prosecutors’ requests for advice on issues arising in their cases and teaching and
speaking on criminal law issues.

1990-1992  In the period from 1990 to 1992, I served in the Prosecuting .
Attorneys Training Coordinator Division. My work there was 100% non-litigation. [
trained prosecutors in trial advocacy skills and instructed prosecutors and law
enforcement officers on pertinent issues in criminal law and evidence,

1986-1990  During this period, I served as the Hamilton County Attorney. |
represented the State of fowa in criminal cases and the County of Hamilton
County in civil litigation brought by or against the county. I estimate that 85 %
of my practice involved litigation. I spent approximately 65 percent of my time
on prosecution of criminal cases; 15 % on Child in Need of Assistance cases and
juvenile delinquency cases; 5 %on mental health and substance abuse
commitment proceedings; and 15 % on providing counsel to county office
holders and defending the county in civil litigation.

1985 to 1986 During this period, I was in private practice. My practice was
approximately 75 % in the area of general business law. Typical clients would have
been small-businesses. Approximately 25 percent of my practice was in the area of
criminal law, primarily court appointed clients. I estimate that 25 % of my practice
involved litigation in court. '

In the past ten years, my practice has been exclusively appellate; I have not tried a case
during that period. During my time as county attorney, [ tried dozens of trials to the bench
and approximately 10 jury trials. 1 would estimate I litigated over 300 suppression hearings.
I was sole counsel in those trials and hearings.

In the past ten years, ] have served as sole counsel in approximately 350 appeals in the
Iowa appellate courts. Over the course of my career, | have represented the State in more
than 675 cases in the lowa appellate courts. I have also represented the State of lowa in
approximately 20 cases in federal district court, 7 cases in the 8™ Circuit Court of
Appeals, and 1 case in the United States Supreme Court. The Attorney General was
named as counsel in those cases but did not perform any part of the legal work,

Describe your pro bono work over at least the past 10 years, including:
a.  Approximate number of pro bono cases you’ve handled.
b.  Average number of hours of pro bono service per year,
¢.  Types of pro bono cases.

[ handled approximately 5 pro bono cases in the five years | was in private




practice. Those cases were dissolutions of marriage and child custody cases.

Since joining the Attorney General’s office, 1 have been prohibited from
representing private clients. I honor my duty to provide pro bono services by
serving on the boards of non-profit and educational organizations and speaking to
students and civic groups about the law and the judicial system.

10. If you have ever held judicial office or served in a quasi-judicial position:
a.  Describe the details, including the title of the position, the courts or other
tribunals involved, the method of selection, the periods of service, and a

description of the jurisdiction of each of court or tribunal,

n/a

b.  List any cases in which your decision was reversed by a court or other
reviewing entity. For each case, include a citation for your reversed opinion
and the reviewing entity’s or court’s opinion and attach a copy of each opinion.
n/a

¢.  List any case in which you wrote a significant opinion on federal or state
constitutional issues. For each case, include a citation for your opinion and any
reviewing entity’s or court’s opinion and attach a copy of each opinion.
n/a

11. If you have been subject to the reporting requirements of Court Rule 22.10:
a. State the number of times you have failed to file timely rule 22.10 reports.

nfa

b. State the number of matters, along with an explanation of the delay, that you
have taken under advisement for longer than:

i. 120 days.
n/a

ii. 180 days.
n/a

iii. 240 days.
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n/a

iv. One year.

n/a

Describe at least three of the most significant legal matters in which you have
participated as an attorney or presided over as a judge or other impartial decision
maker. If they were litigated matters, give the citation if available. For each matter
please state the following:

a.

TR e Ar T

Title of the case and venue,

A brief summary of the substance of each matter,

A succinct statement of what you believe to be the significance of it,
The name of the party you represented, if applicable,

The nature of your participation in the case,

Dates of your involvement,

The outcome of the case,

Name(s) and address(es) [city, state| of co-counsel (if any),
Name(s) of counsel for opposing parties in the case, and

Name of the judge before whom you tried the case, if applicable.

State v. Madison, 785 N.W.2d 706 (Iowa 2010)

This case challenged the computerized system the Towa State Patrol had
developed to invoke implied consent in Iowa. The case presented an issue of first
impression. A decision adverse to the State would have led to widespread reversal
of OWI convictions and license revocations and would have forced the Patrol to
abandon its new, expensive, computerized system for invoking implied consent.
Oral argument was contentious, and the Court appeared hostile to the State’s
position, but I was able to persuade the Court to uphold the system.

Karen Doland, Assistant Attorney General, wrote the brief in this case; [ argued the
case before the Jowa Supreme Court. Opposing counsel was Aaron D. Hamrock of
West Des Moines.

Knowles v. Iowa, 525 U.S. 113 (1998)

From the standpoint of honing my appellate skills, this is the most significant case
in which I have participated. [ represented the State of lowa and was solely
responsible for writing the brief and presenting the State’s case in oral argument
before the United States Supreme Court. The dates of my involvement were
January to December 1997,




The issue was whether a law enforcement officer who issued a citation in lieu of
arrest pursuant to lowa Code §805.1(4) could search the driver’s vehicle. In this
case, the citation was for possession of marijuana. It was important to determine
the constitutionality of making a full search when officers issue citations in lieu-of
arrest. The Supreme Court held that a full search of the car incident to a citation
violated the 4th Amendment even though the officer had probable cause to make
a custodial arrest.

Attorney General Thomas J. Miller, Des Moines, lowa, and Solicitor General
Elizabeth Osenbaugh, deceased, were listed as co-counsel in the appeal, Opposing
Counsel was Paul Rosenberg of Des Moines.

State v, Jackson, No. 21-1319,  N.W.2d _, (2023 WL 5607145)
(Towa Ct. App. Aug. 30, 2023}

This very case demonstrates the complex issues [ litigate on a regular basis. This
case presented a challenge to a search warrant, a claim of medical privilege under
the Towa privilege statute, a claim that the defendant’s medical records were
inadmissible under the federal HIPPA statute, and a multi-layered hearsay issue.
This case has been decided in favor of the State by a panel of the Iowa Court of
Appeals. The lowa Supreme Court has granted the defendant’s application for
further review; that application is still pending.

I represent the State of Towa in this case; Gary Dickey of Des Moines is opposing
counsel.

13. Describe how your non-litigation legal experience, if any, would enhance your ability
to serve as a judge.

I frequently speak and teach on legal issues. My audiences are generally lawyers, but 1
also present to law enforcement officers, students, and the general public. This requires
me to view the law from a non-partisan angle and would enhance by ability to rule
objectively on legal issues as a judge. Those experiences also require me to break down
complex legal issues into brief, easily understandable pieces. That experience improves
my own understanding of the law and would be very useful in discussing legal issues
with counsel who would appear in my court and in making clear, understandable
rulings.

As county attorney and division director at the Attorney General’s office, I hired and
supervised support staff and attorneys, and was responsible for case management. Those
experiences would enhance my ability to manage an office, control my docket, and meet
deadlines.




14.

15.

Both as county attorney and as assistant atiorney general, | have created positive working
relationships with clerks of court and court reporters around the state and gained a deep
understanding of the importance of their work in the smooth operation of the court.
Positive working relationships with clerks and court reporters are essential to a judge’s
work.

Over many years of working in environments where the workload and the stakes are
consistently very high, and the subject matter is often legally and emotionally difficult, I
have learned how important it is to make the office an enjoyable, even fun, place. Both as
supervisor and as a staff attorney, | have developed methods of enabling excellent office
morale where everyone can do their best work. This experience would be very useful in
helping myself and court staff avoid burnout.

If you have ever held public office or have you ever been a candidate for public office,
describe the public office held or sought, the location of the public office, and the dates
of service.

1986-1990  Hamilton County Attorney;, Webster City, Iowa
2003-2006  Freedom Township Trustee; Iowa, elected by write-in votes

2007-2010  Freedom Township Clerk; lowa, elected by write-in votes

If you are carrently an officer, director, partner, sole proprietor, or otherwise
engaged in the management of any business enterprise or nonprofit organization
other than a law practice, provide the following information about your position(s)
and title(s):

a.  Name of business / organization.

b.  Your title.

¢, Your duties.

d.  Dates of involvement.

Gilbert Flooring & Paint, Inc.

Vice President, Secretary
2000-present

My involvement is limited to attending the annual meeting and approving corporate
actions, The day-to-day operation of the business is handled by my husband, Bryan
Gilbert, and his staff.

Bluestem Prairie Organic Hemp, LL.C, d/b/a Bluestem Prairie Farm

2019--present
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17.

Organizer, Member

Bluestem Prairie Farm raises USDA certified organic hemp on our family farm. The
hemp is used to produce certified organic CBD products, which are sold at wholesale
and at retail. Bluestem Prairie Farm also operates a commercial greenhouse raising
flowers, vegetables, and herbs for retail sale.

The day-to-day work is done by family members and a small staff. I handle the
administrative and financial aspects of the business,

List all bar associations and legal- or judicial-related committees or groups of which
you are or have been a member and give the titles and dates of any offices that you
held in those groups.

TIowa State Bar Association, member, 1985—present.
My membership is active.
United States District Court, Northern and Southern Districts of lowa, admitted 1997,
My memberships are currently inactive.
United States Court of Appeal for the 8" Circuit, admitted 1997,
My membership is currently inactive.
United States Supreme Court, admitted 1998,
My membership is active.
Towa State Bar Association Appecllate Practice Committee, 1999-2007.

I served on the planning committees for the Appellate Practice Seminars held
in October of 2002 and October of 2007,

Iowa State Bar Association, Criminal Law Section Council, 2005-2011.

[ served on the planning committee for the Criminal Law Seminar held in April
of 2011.

List all other professional, business, fraternal, scholarly, civic, charitable, or other
organizations, other than those listed above, to which you have participated, since
graduation from law school. Provide dates of membership or participation and
indicate any office you held. “Participation” means consistent or repeated
involvement in a given organization, membership, or regular attendance at events or
meetings.

2020—present Member, Webster City Chamber of Commetrce
Webster City, lowa



18.

19.

20.

21,

2017—present Planning & Zoning Commission Board of Adjustment
Webster City, lowa

20022008 St. Thomas Aquinas Board of Education,
and 2010-2018 Webster City, lowa;
Board President 2007-2008 and 20112012
1986-1988 Advisory Board, Assault Care Center Extending Shelter and Support
(ACCESS)
Ames, lowa
1987-1988 Advisory Board, Youth and Shelter Services

Webster City, Towa

If you have held judicial office, list at least three opinions that best reflect your
approach to writing and deciding cases. For each case, include a brief explanation as
to why you selected the opinion and a citation for your opinion and any reviewing
entity’s or court’s opinion, If either opinion is not publicly available (i.e., available on
Westlaw or a public website other than the court’s electronic filing system), please
attach a copy of the opinion.

n/a

If you have not held judicial office or served in a quasi-judicial position, provide at
least three writing samples (brief, article, book, etc.) that reflect your work.

Please see attached writing samples.

OTHER INFORMATION

If any member of the State Judicial Nominating Commission (for Court of Appeals
and Supreme Court applicants) or 2B District Judicial Nominating Commission (for
District Judge and District Associate Judge Applicants} is your spouse, son, daughter,
brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first cousin, nephew, nicce, father-in-law, mother-in-law,
son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, father, mother, stepfather,
stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, half brother, or half sister,
state the Commissioner’s name and his or her familial relationship with you.

n/a

If any member of the State Judicial Nominating Commission (for Court of Appeals
and Supreme Court applicants) or 2B District Judicial Nominating Commission (for
District Judge and District Associate Judge Applicants) is a current law partner or




business partner, state the Commissioner’s name and describe his or her professional
H

relationship with you.

n/a

22. List the titles, publishers, and dates of books, articles, blog posts, letters to the editor,
editorial pieces, or other published material you have written or edited.

20052012

19992000

1990-1992

Contributed monthly case summaries to the Criminal Law Section
Newsletter, [owa State Bar Association,

Wrote monthly newsletters on criminal law and created
accompanying interaclive electronic training materials for
law enforcement officers; Police Law Institute.

Wrote and edited updates to the OWI Prosecution Manual,
Office of the lowa Prosecuting Attorneys Coordinator,
Iowa Department of Justice.

Wrote and edited the Traffic Safety Newsletter,
Office of the Jowa Prosecuting Attorneys Coordinator,
Towa Department of Justice.

23. List all speeches, talks, or other public presentations that you have delivered for at
least the last ten years, including the title of the presentation or a brief summary of
the subject matter of the presentation, the group to whom the presentation was
delivered, and the date of the presentation.

August 6, 2023

June 2010

June 2008

June 2007

Presenter at a farm crawl sponsored by the Iowa Organic
Association. Spoke to members of the public about organic
agriculture and hemp production.

Presenter, Admissibility of Prior

Sex Offenses

Criminal Law Seminar

Public Defenders Association of lowa

Presenter, Criminal Law Update
County Attorneys Spring Conference
lowa County Attorneys Association

Presenter, Criminal Law Update
Towa Judges Conference




April 2007

February 2005

November 2002

March 1999

November 1997

June 1997

November 1996

June 1996

November 1995

September 1995

June 1995

Presenter, Criminal Law Update
Criminal Law Section Seminar
Towa State Bar Association

Presenter, Confessions and Admissions; Search and Seizure;
Laws of Arrest '

Basic Academy

Towa Department of Public Safety

Presenter, Criminal Law Update
County Attorneys Fall Conference
Towa County Attorneys Association

Guest Lecturer, Criminal Law Course
Wartburg College

Presenter, Criminal Law Update;
Search and Seizure Update

County Attorneys Fall Conference
Iowa County Attorneys Association

Presenter, Criminal T.aw Update
lowa Magistrates Conference

Presenter, Criminal Law Update
County Attorneys Fall Conference
[owa County Attorneys Association

Presenter, Criminal Law Update
County Attorneys Spring Conference
lowa County Attorneys Association

Presenter, Criminal Law Update; Search and Seizure Update
County Attorneys Fall Conference
lowa County Attorneys Association

Presenter, Criminal Law
Basic Law Enforcement Academy
lowa Department of Public Safety

Presenter, Search and Seizure Update




County Attorneys Spring Conference
lowa County Attorneys Association

December 1994 Presenter, OWI Case Law Update
lowa Judges Conference

November 1994 Faculty Member
29% Annual Northern Iowa Community Conference

- September 1994 Presenter, Trial Process for Law Enforcement
Iowa County Attorneys Association

August—September  Presenter, Various Criminal Law
Topics 1994 Law Enforcement Basic Academy
lowa Department of Public Safety

January 1991 Faculty member
National Trial Advocacy Program for OWI Prosecutors
National Highway Safety Administration

I also speak regularly to student groups and community groups such as the Rotary Club
about the judicial system and legal issues of interest.




24. List all the social media applications (e.g., Facebook, Twitter, Snapchat, Instagram,
LinkedIn) that you have used in the past five years and your account name or other
identifying information (excluding passwords) for each account.

Facebook:  Bluestem Prairie Farm; Bridget Chambers
Instagram: Bridget Chambers; bluestemprairiefarm

Twitter/X:  bridgetalicechl
(inactive)

Snapchat:  bgilbert@wmtel.net
LinkedIn:  Bridget Chambers
Alignable:  Bluestem Prairie Organic Hemp

25. List any honors, prizes, awards or other forms of recognition which you have
received (including any indication of academic distinction in college or law school)
other than those mentioned in answers to the foregoing questions.

J.D. degree with distinction

American Jurisprudence Award in Family Law

26. Provide the names and telephone numbers of at least five people who would be able
to comment on your qualifications to serve in judicial office. Briefly state the nature
of your relationship with each person.

The Honorable David Danilson, Iowa Court of Appeals, senior status
(515) 348-4700 {Clerk of Court)

I practiced before Chief Judge Danilson in the lowa Court of Appeals and when
he was on the District Associate Court in Hamilton County. He can speak to my
trial and appeliate skills.

The Henorable Mary Tabor, fowa Court of Appeals

(515) 348-4700 (Clerk of Court)

Judge Tabor can speak to my appellate skills and judicial temperament. I have
practiced before Judge Tabor in the lowa Court of Appeals, and [ worked with her
for many years in the Criminal Appeals Division of the lowa Attorney General’s
Office.
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The Honorable Tyler Buller
Iowa Court of Appeals
(515) 348-4700 (Clerk of Court)

Judge Buller and I worked together at the lowa Attorney General’s office fora
number of years. He can speak to my knowledge of the law and judicial
temperament.

Ellen Willadsen
Chief Innovation Officer, former CFO

Holmes Murphy
(515) 868-6835

Ellen and 1 have been friends for forty years. She can speak to my judicial
temperament and work ethic.

Stephan Japuntich
Assistant Iowa Appellate Defender, retired.
(515) 297-1820

Steve is familiar both my trial practice and my appellate work. He was a defense
attorney in Hamilton County when [ was a prosecutor there. Steve moved to the
lowa Appellate Defender’s Office at about the same time as 1 moved to the lowa
Attorney General’s Office, where we continued to be opposing counsel on a large
number of cases.

Kevin Cmelik

Director, Criminal Appeals Division
Towa Attorney General’s Office, retired.
(563) 940-2502

Kevin was my colleague and then my direct supervisor at the lowa Attorney’s
Office. Prior to that, he worked in the Appellate Defender’s Office. He can
discuss my appellate skills.

Darrel Mullins

Director, Criminal Appeals Division
Iowa Attorney General’s Office
(515) 281-5976

Darrel is my direct supervisor at the Jowa Attorney General’s Office. He can speak
to my knowledge of the law, temperament, and work ethic.
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27. Explain why yon are seeking this judicial position.

I am secking a new challenge in a position that would have immediate impact on
people’s lives and would allow me to use my expertise in the law and my life
experiences to serve the lowa judicial system and the people of lowa.

28. Explain how your appointment would enhance the court.

I would bring to the bench an inmate sense of justice and deep knowledge of the law, the
rules of evidence, and the rules of criminal and civil procedure. Perhaps more importantly,
I would bring to the court the wisdom, patience, and good judgment that come with age
and experience.

29. Provide any additional information that you believe the Commission or the
Governor should know in considering your application.

At this point in my life and legal practice, I am seeking to leave a legacy of service to our
judicial system and to our state.

My experience would allow me to transition to the bench quickly and smoothly.

[ hereby certify all the information in this joint judicial application is true and cotrect to
the best of my knowledge.

Signed: \_—éa’Wﬂ Clrerntitte Date: October 19, 2023

Printed name: Bridget A, Chambers
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 21-1319

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

DAVID DWIGHT JACKSON,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE SCOTT J. BEATTIE (MOTION TO SUPPRESS)
THE HONORABLE DAVID PORTER (TRIAL), JUDGES

APPELLEE’S BRIEF

BRENNA BIRD
Attorney General of Iowa

BRIDGET A. CHAMBERS

Assistant Attorney General

Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319

(515) 281-5976

(515) 281-4902 (fax)
bridget.chambers@ag.iowa.gov

KIMBERLY GRAHAM
Polk County Attorney

JAKI L. LIVINGSTON
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE
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ROUTING STATEMENT

This case can be decided based on existing legal principles.
Therefore, transfer to the Court of Appeals would be appropriate.
Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a direct appeal by the defendant David Jackson from his
convictions for homicide by vehicle (operating while intoxicated
alternative), in violation of Iowa Code section 707.6A(1) (2021);
leaving the scene of an accident resulting in death, in violation of
Iowa Code section 321.261(4) (2021); and operating a motor vehicle
without the owner’s consent, in violation of Iowa Code section 714.7
(2021). Sentencing Order; Notice of Appeal; App. .

Course of Proceedings

The State accepts the defendant’s course of proceedings as
adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Facts

On August 9, 2020, Bounleua Lovan was driving a Polaris

Slingshot, a three-wheeled motorcycle, north on MLK when he was
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struck by a Prius driven by David Jackson. Tr. II, 35:2 — 36:24; 52:12-
23.

Timothy Gilbert was traveling south on MLK on August 9, 2020
when he noticed a “reverse-trike” motorcycle and a black Prius also
traveling south on MLK. The Prius was staying right behind Gilbert
or trailing right behind hm in his blind spot, so he was paying
attention to it. Tr. II, 31:19-25; 33:14 — 34:23; 36:18-22. The Prius
stayed alongside him for half to three-quarters of a mile. Other than
driving in his blind spot, Mr. Gilbert observed that the Prius driver
was driving normally. Tr. II, 40:7-20. MLK is a two-way street with
four lanes of traffic. Tr. II, 36:1-4. Mr. Gilbert and the Prius driver
were going 35 to 40 miles per hour. “All of a sudden,” the Prius
accelerated and started to cross the double yellow line into oncoming
traffic. The Prius kept accelerating and crossed two or three lanes of
traffic. Tr. II, p. 35:2-25; 36:5-9.

Mr. Gilbert observed the motorcyclist and other oncoming
motorists trying to get out of the way of the Prius, but the Prius was
moving so fast the motorcyclist could not avoid it and it hit the
motorcyclist head-on and slammed him up against a telephone pole.

The Prius jumped the curb and the driver kept going until he hit a
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building. Tr. II, 36:10-24. “Not once” did Gilbert see the Prius’ brake
lights illuminate or see the driver try to stop. Tr. II, 36:— 37:1. Gilbert
assumed that the Prius driver might have been suffering from a
medical problem. Tr. II, 37:2-7; 41:9-12.

Mr. Gilbert stopped and ran over to check on the motorcyclist.
He did not see the driver of the Prius because he was focused on the
other driver. Tr. I, 37:2-14; 38:10-15.

Another motorist, Ashley Hobbs, observed the aftermath of the
collision. Ms. Hobbs did not see the impact, but she saw the three-
wheeler hit a light pole and saw the driver slump over. She saw the
other driver drive over the curb, cross through a parking lot and into
the side of a building. Tr. 11, 42:5 — 44:23. Ms. Hobbs pulled into the
parking lot and ran over to the car. The car was a four-door vehicle,
and the driver was the only occupant. Tr. II, 7:14-21. As she reached
out to open the driver’s side car door, the driver “popped out kind of
in a daze” and stood up “just looking around as if he was confused a
little bit.” Tr. I, 44:9 — 45:8; 45:15-20; 47:17-21. Ms. Hobbs later
identified Jackson as the driver. Tr. II, 52:12-23. Ms. Hobbs thought
Jackson looked “out of it” either from the car crash or “being off

something else.” Tr. II, 46:17-22.
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Ms. Hobbs told Jackson that she wanted to make sure he was

2 <«

okay. He told her, “I wasn’t in the vehicle,” “I wasn’t driving that
vehicle.” Tr. I1, 45:9-14; 47:2-9. Jackson turned around and got back
into the car; he appeared to be searching for something. Ms. Hobbs
got nervous and called over her friend. Jackson then pulled out a bag
from the car and started to walk away. Tr. I1, 47:22 — 48:14.

Ms. Hobbs tried to stop Jackson, asking if he wanted to wait for
the ambulance. He again stated that he was not driving the vehicle.
At that point, Ms. Hobbs called 911 and gave the dispatcher a
description of Jackson. She was still looking at Jackson as she gave
the description. Tr. II, 48:7-19. Jackson walked to the senior citizen
home that was next to the building he had hit. She lost sight of
Jackson as he walked around the senior center. Tr. II, 48:20 — 49:2.

When the police arrived, Ms. Hobbs pointed out the direction
Jackson had gone. She stayed at the scene until police returned and
walked with her up the hill by the senior center, where police had
Jackson in handcuffs. Ms. Hobbs identified Jackson as the driver of
the car. Tr. 11, 49:3-22; 52:12-23.

Des Moines Police Officers Brian Cuppy and Christopher

Latham were working together and were closed by when the crash
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occurred. The officers were the first officers to get to the scene. Tr. II,
56:9-25; 58:5 — 59:14. As Officer Cuppy was still looking for
witnesses, Officer Latcham told him he was going to go look for the
driver of the car. Officer Cuppy stayed at the scene to make sure
witnesses did not leave. Tr. II, 60:1-13.

Officer Latcham testified that he heard the dispatch about the
collision and he and Officer Cuppy were at the scene within one to
two minutes. Tr. II, 63:13-19; 64:5-7; 67:10 — 68:1. At the scene, he
saw a group of people attending to someone by a telephone pole and
saw that a car had struck a building. He spoke with Ms. Hobbs at the
scene who told him that the drive of the car had run from the vehicle
and gave him a description. The officer left to see if he could find the
driver, thought he believed he was probably long gone. Tr. II, 68:7-21;
70:13-14.

Officer Latcham walked past the senior center and located
Jackson sitting outside the building. Tr. II, 70:15 — 72:4; Exh. 6 (video
from body camera); App. --. The officer began to give Jackson
commands and, at first, Jackson complied. Tr. II, 72:2-9. But then
Jackson ran. He ran into a pillar on the building and that caused him

to turn around and the officer was then able to catch him. Tr. II, 73:4
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— 22, Jackson asked the officer what was going on. Tr. II, 73:18-22.
Two other officers took custody of Jackson and then Officer Latcham
collected belongings that Jackson had left behind when he ran. Those
items were a bag, a cell phone, a sports drink, and a lighter. Tr. II,
74:2-9.

Des Moines Police Officer Nathan Nemmers also responded to
the report of the collision. He assisted Officer Latcham by
handcuffing Jackson and securing him in the back of a patrol car. Tr.
I1, 157:13-15; 158:3-5; 162:21 — 163:21. The officer had completed
specialized training in investigation of impaired driving. Tr. II,
158:10-15. He observed signs that Jackson could be under the
influence of drugs or alcohol. He observed that Jackson had
bloodshot, watery eyes, “seemed a little paranoid,” exhibited some
erratic behavior, and was sweating profusely. The officer did not
smell any odor of alcohol. Tr. II, 163:24 — 164:8. The air conditioning
was on in the squad car that he put Jackson into. Tr. II, 177:16-21.
Officer Latcham had told Officer Nemmers that he attempted to use
pepper spray on Jackson, but Officer Nemmers did not observe any

indication that Jackson had been pepper sprayed, though he
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acknowledged that pepper spray can cause bloodshot, watery eyes,
sweating, and anger. Tr. II, 175:21 — 176:22.

Jackson repetitively stated that he was being shot at or he was
going to be shot. Officer Latcham had held Jackson at gunpoint, but
he was not being held at gunpoint at the time he was making those
statements. Tr. II, 164:13 — 165:6.

Jackson was taken to Broadlawns Medical Center. Officer
Nemmers went to Broadlawns to investigate Jackson for suspected
operating while intoxicated. Tr. II, 166:2 — 167:2. Officer Nemmers
spoke to Jackson at the hospital. Jackson was “generally pretty
incoherent.” The officer asked Jackson if he knew how the accident
occurred and Jackson stated that he does not drive. Jackson did not
acknowledge that there had been a collision and was not able to tell
the officer where he had been or what had occurred. The officer was
not able to get any coherent responses from Jackson. Tr. II, 167:6-18;
168:4 — 169:4.

Officer Nemmers did not attempt to conduct field sobriety
testing of Jackson because Jackson was incoherent and unable to

follow any commands or instructions and it was clear to the officer
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from trying to talk to Jackson that he was not going to be able to
perform field tests. Tr. II, p. 169:18 — 170:4.

Officer Nemmers requested a warrant to withdraw a sample of
Jackson’s blood and stayed at the hospital to facilitate collection of
the blood specimen. Tr. II, 170:5-10.

Justin Grodnitzky works in the toxicology section at the Iowa
Division of Criminal Investigation Crime Laboratory. He tested
Jackson’s blood specimen. He found less than 10 nanograms of
Lorazepam per milliliter of blood. Tr. III, 15:11-13. Lorazepam, also
known as Ativan, is a prescription drug used to treat anxiety and is
also used as sedative and for muscle relaxation. Tr. III, 23:13-16.

Mr. Grodnitzky also found 104 nanograms of
methamphetamine and 16 nanograms of amphetamine per milliliter
of blood. Tr. III, 15:11-13; 21:11 — 22:8. Methamphetamine is broken
down in the body to amphetamine at about ten to twenty percent, so
he believed it most likely that the amphetamine he found in Jackson’s
blood was actually from the methamphetamine having been broken
down to amphetamine. Tr. III, 22:15-25. Methamphetamine is often
used to treat obesity, narcolepsy, and ADHD-type disorders. The

therapeutic range for methamphetamine is 20 to, at most, 50
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milliliters; it really should not exceed 50 milliliters. Tr. p. I1I, 25:20 —
26:16. He could not say whether Jackson was intoxicated, however, as
that would depend on Jackson’s tolerance of the drug. Tr. III, 26:17-
24.

Bryan Wickett is a Des Moines police officer and an accident
reconstructionist. Tr. ITI, 28:8 — 30:5. He investigated the collision in
this case. Tr. I1I, 30:20 — 31:3. The collision occurred near the
intersection of Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard (MLK) and
Hickman Road. Tr. I1I, 35:21 — 36:4; Exh. 37 (photograph); App.--.
When he arrived at the scene, he found a Polaris Slingshot up against
a light pole and a Toyota Prius against the wall of a building on the
east side of MLK. Tr. II1I, 32:11-24.

Mr. Wickett was able to determine that the Prius had been
traveling south on MLK and the motorcycle had been traveling north.
Tr. III, 36:11 — 37:2; Exh. 36 (photograph/diagram); App. --. He
determined that the Prius crossed the centerline and hit the
motorcycle in the curb-side lane on the northbound side of the road.
The Prius then went up over the curb, across a drive, and ended up
resting against a building. Tr. ITI, 37:3 — 38:22. The Slingshot was

moved ten feet from the point of collision. The Prius continued for
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another 220 feet from the point of collision before hitting the
building. Tr. III, 71:5-16.

Mr. Wickett also obtained a warrant to access the Prius’ “black
box.” Tr. 111, 48:9 — 49:5. He was able to determine that Jackson was
going 57 miles per hour when he hit the Slingshot. Five seconds
earlier, Jackson had been going 49 miles per hour. Jackson never
took his foot off the gas pedal; the accelerator pedal was at a constant
percentage until the Prius hit the building. Jackson was driving 57
miles per hour when he hit the Slingshot. Jackson never applied the
brakes. Tr. II1, 52:2 — 54:15; 66:3 — 67:19; 70:6-20; 80:7-25. The
speed limit in that area is 30 to 35 miles per hour. Tr. III, 79:9-17.

The path of the Prius and information from the black box
showed that indicated that Jackson did turn the steering wheel to
attempt to avoid the collision with the Slingshot or with the building.
Tr. II1, 60:24 — 63:14; 66:7-10; 67:24 — 68:5. The road curves in the
area where Jackson crossed the center line, but Jackson did not
follow the curve. He continued to drive straight, which put him on a
path into oncoming traffic where he struck the Slingshot. Tr. III, 81:15
— 18:18. Only one seat of the Prius was occupied, the driver’s seat. The

driver’s seat belt was latched. Tr. III, 53:16 — 54:3. Mr. Wickett
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determined that the Slingshot was traveling at or below the speed
limit at the time of the collision. Tr. III, 55:10-24.

Patrick Downey was the owner of the black Prius Jackson was
driving on August 9. Carrie Halfpop, one of Mr. Downey’s tenants,
took off with his keys and stole the car in July of 2020. Tr. III, 7:10 —
8:5; 12:3-17. He reported the car stolen. About a month later, the
police called and informed him that they had found his car and that it
had been involved in an accident. Tr. III, 8:3-23. Mr. Downey did not
know Jackson and did not give him permission to drive his car. Tr.
II1, 9:14 — 10:21; 13:14-19. Mr. Downey does not ever let anyone use
his car. Tr. 111, 13:3-12.

Jackson testified at his trial. He testified that he was fifty-two
years old. Tr. III, 131:9-15. He testified that he has prior convictions
for a drug tax stamp offense, operating a motor vehicle without the
owner’s consent, two eluding offenses, and two theft offenses. Tr. III,
133:13-23. Mr. Jackson, who played basketball in college and played
professionally in the CBA, is six feet six inches tall and weighs 255. He
considered himself to be in good condition. Tr. III, 132:14-18; 134:11

— 135:5. However, he testified, he “caught the Corona” and had some
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breathing issued afterwards. He “blacked out” at work, the last time
at the end of July. Tr. III, 135:6-22.

Jackson testified that he blacked out twice. The last time was
when he was working at Hy-Vee Fresh in Ankeny and one of his co-
workers saw him stumble. Jackson testified that he was “kind of
dizzy” and lost consciousness and, when he came to, he was slumped
over his machine. Tr. III, 156:25 — 58:19. The other time was at the
home of his daughter. His daughter roused him and told him that she
had been talking to him for two or three minutes and he had not
responded. Tr. III, 158:7-17.

Jackson’s blackout at work took place on July 26. Tr. IV, 26:17 —
27:3; Tr. 111, 161:12-23. Because of his blackout at work, Jackson was
required to leave work, get a COVID test, and quarantine. Tr. III,
135:6-22; 160:3-16. He got his test the next day, August 27. Tr. III,
161:12-23. Jackson’s COVID test was negative, but he was instructed
to quarantine for fourteen days. Tr. III, 160:23 — 161:8. He saw a
doctor and was diagnosed with rhabdomyolysis, which required him
to stay hydrated. Tr. III, 136:1-5.

Jackson’s COVID quarantine period ended on August 9. That

day, he played with his grandchildren, walked to the corner store,
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then watched television and took a nap. He felt “fine.” Tr. 111, 136:17 —
137:6.

Jackson walked to the home a friend who lived a couple doors
down and borrowed a car from Shelley Smith. He did not have a
driver’s license and knew that he was not supposed to drive. Tr. III,
137:7-25. He borrowed the car to run a few errands. He testified that
he did not know the car was stolen. Tr. I1I, 138:7-15. Jackson
intended to go to Broadlawns Medical Center to get a note for work
stating that he had taken his COVID test. He needed a note from his
doctor to get paid for the time he was in quarantine. Tr. III, 140:14 —
141:1.

Jackson testified that on August 9, he was driving to
Broadlawns. He remembered that he drove down Euclid, stopped at
the intersection of Euclid and MLK, then turned left and drove south
on MLK. Jackson felt fine, was breathing well, and thought he was
driving well. Tr. III, 141:5-15. He testified that he started to have
tightness in his chest, his breathing became restricted, and he passed
out behind the wheel. He did not remember blacking out. His next
memory was hearing the loud noises of the airbags deploying and

struggling with his seat belt. Tr. II1, 141:16 — 142:11.
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When he came to, Jackson testified, his ears were ringing, his
head was throbbing, his glasses had been knocked off his face, he
“couldn’t breathe” and he was “in shock.” He did not know where he
was or what had happened, but he knew he was in trouble. Tr. III,
142:12 -23.

He wiggled out from his seat belt and got out of the car. When
he stood up, he felt “dizzy” and was “dazed.” He saw a woman
standing in front of him and he could see that she was saying
something, but he could not hear her and could not comprehend what
she was saying. Tr. III, 142:18 — 143:7. He did not recall speaking to
the woman. Tr. I1I, 143:15-20.

Jackson testified that he knew that he had hit the wall but did
not know that he had hit anyone. He testified that he did not
remember anything after he passed the Hy-Vee store and got to the
top of the hill on MLK. When he came to realized that he had hit a
concrete wall, wrecked the car, and he could not breathe. He did not
see the Slingshot when he got out of the car. Tr. I1I, 144:8-25.

Jackson recalled that he got back in the car to try to find his
glasses. He found them and grabbed them, along with a bag that had

Gatorade and juices in it and got back out. Tr. III, 143:8-12. When he
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got out, Jackson knew he had to get to the hospital and thought he
saw Broadlawns, but it was actually a senior living facility. Tr. III,
143:24 — 144:22. Jackson testified that he “couldn’t ... catch my
breath” and started walking to the “hospital,” he was searching for his
phone to call his daughter, but he could not find his phone. Tr. III,
145:4-16.

Jackson testified that he did not know what was going on and
thought he was at the hospital. He testified that his balance and
equilibrium was steady, but he was hearing a steady ringing sound.
He walked to the building he thought was Broadlawns and tried to get
in. When he got into the lobby, the inside door was locked and there
was a code he had to use to get inside. He entered the code and stood
there looking for his phone. He did not understand why he could not
get in, so he went back outside. He testified that he was sitting there
trying to figure things out. At some point, he got up and walked
partially around the building. He thought he was looking for his
phone, but he did not remember for sure. Tr. III, 145:17 — 147:24. He
went back and sat down. Tr. I1I, 147:24 — 148:3.

While Jackson was sitting outside the senior center, a police

officer approached him. Jackson asked the officer what was going on

24



and initially complied with the officer’s commands to get down.
Jackson testified that he got on his knees but did not want to lay
down on his chest because he “couldn’t breathe” and was trying to
figure out why the officer was making him lie down, anyway. Tr. III,
148:4 — 149:4.

Jackson testified that he “always [has] a little apprehension
when the police are coming at” him because he knows it is not going
to be a positive experience. Tr. 111, 149:5-14. The officer was
screaming at Jackson and had his pepper spray pointed at him and
was telling him that he was going to spray him. Tr. 111, 149:15 —
151:10. Jackson took off running and the officer sprayed him with
pepper spray. Jackson testified that he was sprayed in his face,
mouth, nose, and ears and it was burning him up. He testified, “I am
m a pretty big guy, but it put me down.” Tr. 111, 149:19 — 150:15.
Jackson ran to a pillar to hide but hit the pillar. He went back the
other direction and tried to hide behind a brick wall. He testified that
he was worried about being shot. Tr. III, 150:9 — 151:16. Once he
stopped behind the brick wall, Jackson complied with the officer’s

directives, and he was taken into custody and put into a police
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cruiser. Tr. III, 151:22 — 152:5. Jackson testified that he lost his
glasses when officers took him into custody. Tr. I1I, 153:6-15.

Inside the squad car, Jackson testified, he was “burning up” and
he was having trouble breathing. He testified that he had sweat
pouring down his face and tear coming from his eyes. He asked the
officer to help him, and the officer allowed a woman to get him a
bottle of water. The officer took the bottle from the woman and
poured it on Jackson’s face. Jackson testified that the water caused
pepper spray to pour down his face and onto the front of his stomach
and he thought he went into shock again. When he came to, he was at
Broadlawns Medical Center. Tr. 111, 152:6-21.

Jackson testified that he was admitted to the ICU at
Broadlawns. He testified that the reason for the admission was that
his heart rate had dropped and “was at 34, .... They said they were
waiting to see if my heart was going to stop again.” He testified that
he received treatment throughout the next day. Tr. III, 153:24 —
154:7.

Jackson attempted to explain the methamphetamine found in
his system. He denied that he took any drugs on August 9 or that he

was intoxicated on anything that day. He believed the
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methamphetamine detected in his blood specimen was from a “X” pill
he took three or four days before August 9. Tr. III, 154:8 — 155:9. An
“X” pill is ecstasy. Tr. IV, 31:7-12. Jackson testified that the pill must
have had methamphetamine in it. Tr. IV, 32:17-21. Jackson denied
that he was “in any way impaired, intoxicated, unable to drive when
he decided to drive on August 9. Tr. III, 155:2-14. He testified that, “I
had an accident. I had a medical emergency .... But I never intended,
was not intoxicated, to run and hit a man.” Tr. III, 155:22 — 156:2.

On rebuttal, the State called Dale Peterson. Mr. Peterson works
for Wellpath, a medical group contracted with the Polk County jail.
He serves as the health services administrator for the Polk County
jail. In that capacity, he oversees all of the medical and mental health
staff for the jail and is responsible for keeping the medical business
records for persons incarcerated in the jail. Tr. IV, 58:2 — 59:14.

Jackson was admitted to the Polk County jail on August 10,
2020. He was transferred to the jail from Broadlawns Medical Center.
Tr. IV, 59:15-22. As is the normal practice, Jackson’s discharge
records from Broadlawns accompanied him to the jail and were

entered into his medical records at the jail. Tr. IV, 59:23 — 61:2. His
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full records from Broadlawns were received later. Tr. 1V, 66:13 —
67:4.

Jackson’s discharge records reflect that he was admitted to
Broadlawns Medical Center for polysubstance abuse, rhabdomyolysis,
and because he had been in a motor vehicle crash. Tr. IV, 70:14-22.
He explained that rhabdomyolysis typically occurs with damage to the
muscular system, typically when the person is dehydrated. The typical
treatment is large amounts of fluids. Tr. IV, 70:25 — 71:11.

Mr. Peterson testified that Jackson’s records did not reflect that
Jackson had any difficulty with breathing. His records show that
Jackson’s vital signs were taken at the hospital. Hospital records
show that his vitals were stable and within normal limits. His blood
oxygen level was ninety-eight percent. The records did not show that
Jackson had a history of blacking out or losing consciousness and did
not indicate that jail staff should keep Jackson under observation for
blacking out. Tr. IV, 61:12 — 63:13.

Mr. Peterson testified that Wellpath staff working under
contract with the jail conducted an initial screening of Jackson. As a
result, he was placed in the alcohol and opioid detoxification

program. Tr. IV, 63:23 — 64:2. The detoxification protocols are
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started any time a patient states that they have been using opioids,
alcohol, or “benzos.’ Tr. IV, 64:12-15. Jackson’s jail medical records
stated that Jackson was placed in the detoxification protocols due to
his self-reported use of opioids or alcohol. Tr. IV, 65:11-25.

ARGUMENT

The Search Warrant Authorizing Withdrawal of a
Sample of Jackson’s Blood Is Supported by Probable
Cause.

Preservation of Error

The State does not challenge preservation of Jackson’s claim
that the search warrant contained false information. Jackson raised
this claim in the district court and the court ruled on it. See Motion to
Suppress; Order on Motion to Suppress; App. .

The State does challenge preservation of Jackson’s claim that
the search warrant application omitted material information that
would have cast doubt on the magistrate’s finding of probable cause.
Jackson did not raise that claim in the district court. See Motion to
Suppress; App. ____. Neither did the district court rule on any such
claim. Order on Motion to Suppress; App. . That claim is,
therefore, waived. Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa

2002) (“It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues
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must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court

before we will decide them on appeal.”).

Scope and Standard of Review

The Court reviews constitutional questions de novo, based on
the totality of the circumstances. State v. McNeal, 867 N.W.2d 91, 99
(Iowa 2015). “The test for probable cause is ‘whether a person of
reasonable prudence would believe a crime was committed on the
premises to be searched or evidence of a crime could be located
there.” State v. Baker, 925 N.W.2d 602, 613 (Iowa 2019) (quoting
State v. Gogg, 561 N.W.2d 360, 363 (Iowa 1997)).

The standard for review of search warrants is deferential. State
v. Bracy, 971 N.W.2d 563, 564 (Iowa 2022). The Court does not make
an independent determination of probable cause. McNeal, 867
N.W.2d at 99 (quoting Gogg, 561 N.W.2d at 363). Rather, the Court
“consider[s] whether the grant of the warrant had a substantial basis
under the totality of the circumstances as disclosed in the warrant
application.” Bracy, 971 N.W.2d at 564.

When reviewing a warrant application, the Court “examine[s]

only the information actually presented to the judge.” Bracy, 971
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N.W.2d at 567 (internal quotation and citation omitted). It “do[es]
not strictly scrutinize the sufficiency of the underlying affidavit.” Id.
“[T]he affidavit of probable cause is interpreted in a common sense,
rather than a hypertechnical, manner.” Id. The Court “draw[s] all
reasonable inferences to support the judge's finding of probable cause
and decide[s] close cases in favor of upholding the validity of the
warrant.” Id. at 567-68.

Merits

David Jackson challenges the district court’s denial of his
motion to suppress the result of a blood test obtained under a search
warrant. He alleges that the officer who completed the search warrant
affidavit recklessly included incorrect information and omitted
material facts. He argues that had the officer not included the
incorrect information and included the omitted information, the
affidavit would not have supported a finding of probable cause. The
Court should reject his claim. Jackson was required to prove that the
affiant intentionally or recklessly included false information in the
search warrant. The district court found that the false information
was included only negligently, and the record supports the court’s

finding. Further, Jackson waived any challenge to omitted evidence
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as he did not raise that claim in the district court. Moreover, even if
the false information is excised from the warrant application, and he
omitted is considered, the application supplies probable cause for
issuance of the warrant. Therefore, the Court must reject Jackson’s
challenge to the district court’s suppression ruling.

A search warrant must be supported by probable cause. Fourth
Amendment to the United States Constitution; Iowa Const. art. I, § 8.
Our Court uses the totality-of-the-circumstances standard to
determine whether officers established probable cause for issuance of
a search warrant. Baker, 925 N.W.2d at 613—14. The test for probable
cause is “whether a person of reasonable prudence would believe a
crime was committed on the premises to be searched or evidence of a
crime could be located there.” Baker, 925 N.W.2d at 613 (internal
quotation and citations omitted). The judge ““is simply to make a
practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the
circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the
“veracity” and “basis of knowledge” of persons supplying hearsay
information,” probable cause exists.” Baker, 925 N.W.2d at 613
(quoting Gogg, 561 N.W.2d at 363, in turn quoting Illinois v. Gates,

462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983)).
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In determining whether there was probable cause for a search
warrant, the Courts review the information actually presented to the
judge and determines whether the issuing judge had a substantial
basis for concluding that probable cause existed. Baker, 925 N.W.2d
at 613-614 (citing McNeal, 867 N.W.2d at 99). In reviewing the
warrant application, the Court “interprets the affidavit of probable
cause in a common sense, rather than in a highly technical manner.”
Baker, 925 N.W.2d at 614. The Court draws all reasonable inferences
to support the judge’s finding of probable cause and decides close
cases in favor of upholding the validity of the warrant. Id.

In Franks, the Supreme Court developed a means to examine
the truthfulness of an affiant in presenting evidence to a magistrate in
support of issuance of a search warrant. State v. Niehaus, 452 N.W.2d
184, 186—87 (Iowa 1990). A Franks inquiry is limited to a
determination of whether the affiant was purposely untruthful with
regard to a material fact in his or her application for the warrant or
acted with reckless disregard for the truth. If the reviewing court finds
that the affiant intentionally or recklessly falsified the challenged
information, the offensive material must be deleted, and the

remainder of the warrant is reviewed to determine whether probable
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cause existed. Bracy, 971 N.W.2d at 568 (citing Franks v. Delaware,
438 U.S. 154, 158, 171-172 (1978)). Our Court has adopted the Franks
standard for resolving allegations that the officer provided false
information in the warrant application. Bracy, 971 N.W.2d at 568.
Under Franks, intentionally false statements and false
statements made with a reckless disregard for the truth are treated
the same.” The issuing magistrate must have been misled “into
believing the existence of certain facts which enter into [her or] his

29

thought process in evaluating probable cause.”” State v. Case, No. 19-
0378, 2020 WL 5651560, *10 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 23, 2020) (internal
quotation and citations omitted). Under this standard, an innocent or
negligent misstatement is inadequate to challenge the validity of a
search warrant. Niehaus, 452 N.W.2d at 187; and see State v.
McPhillips, 580 N.W.2d 748, 751 (Iowa 1998).

Jackson points out that the warrant application contained
incorrect information. Attachment A to the search warrant affidavit
included information regarding the results of field sobriety testing.
See Search Warrant Application, Attachment A; App. __ . At

Jackson’s suppression hearing, the affiant-officer testified that he did

not perform field sobriety testing on Jackson. Supp. Tr. 11:10-15. He
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testified that he re-used a previous warrant application to prepare his
affidavit in this case and inadvertently failed to delete that portion of
the prior affidavit. Supp. Tr. 12:10-18.

The district court found that the affiant-officer did not
consciously provide the magistrate with false information or act with
reckless disregard for the truth. Instead, the court found, the officer
“committed a scrivener’s error (albeit a significant one) by including
information from a previous warrant and failing to note it in proof
reading the affidavit.” Order on Motion to Suppress at p. 3; App. __.
The court’s ruling was correct and should be upheld. Cf. United States
v. Waker, 534 F.3d 168, 172 (2nd Cir. 2008) (erroneous dates on
search warrant application did not invalidate warrant as they were
minor scrivener’s errors or the product of clerical inadvertence).

Despite its finding that the officer-affiant did not consciously or
recklessly provide false information, the district court went on to
address whether the warrant would be supported by probable cause if
the challenged evidence were not considered. The court concluded
that, even without the incorrect evidence regarding field sobriety test

results, the warrant application still supported a finding of probable
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cause. Order on Motion to Suppress at pp. 3-4; App. ____. The district
court’s ruling was correct.

Excising the information regarding the field sobriety tests, the
remaining evidence is sufficient to establish probable cause. That
evidence includes that Jackson crossed the center double yellow line
of the road and struck a motorcycle, killing the cyclist. Warrant
Application, Attachment A-1; App. ___ . Jackson was observed to
have bloodshot, watery eyes, his speech was mumbled, he was
unsteady on his feet, his emotions were visibly excited, and his
judgment was impaired. Jackson displayed behavior that the affiant-
officer knew to be consistent with drug use: he was sweating
profusely, grinding his teeth, and was unable to remain still. In
addition, Jackson was incoherent; he was unaware that he had been
involved in an accident and did not know why he was at the hospital.
Warrant Application, Attachment A-2; App. . That evidence was
far more than sufficient to establish probable cause for issuance of a
search warrant for withdrawal of a blood specimen from Jackson to
test for the presence of a controlled substance. The Court should
uphold the district court’s denial of Jackson’s motion to suppress the

result of Jackson’s blood test.
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Jackson also argues, however, that the warrant is not supported
by probable cause because the affiant-officer omitted information
that Jackson had been sprayed with pepper spray while at the scene.
As argued above, Jackson waived that claim by failing to raise it in the
district court. Nonetheless, because the Court may choose to reach
the merits of that claim, the State addresses it.

The officer-affiant was not required to advise the magistrate
that Jackson was sprayed with pepper spray. “[Aln officer applying
for a search warrant ‘is not required to present all inculpatory and
exculpatory evidence to the magistrate,” only that evidence which
would support a finding of probable cause.” State v. Green, 540
N.W.2d 649, 657 (Iowa 1995) (quoting State v. Johnson, 312 N.W.2d
144, 146 (Iowa App.1981)); accord Baker, 925 N.W.2d at 615.
“Omissions of fact constitute misrepresentations only if the omitted

29

facts ‘cast doubt on the existence of probable cause.” Green, 540
N.W.2d at 657 (quoting State v. Ripperger, 514 N.W.2d 740, 745
(Iowa App. 1994) (in turn quoting United States v. Ellison, 793 F.2d
942, 948 (8th Cir. 1986)). Failure to disclose information in a warrant

application can constitute a misrepresentation if the failure to

disclose results in a misconception or, in other words, if the omission
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produces the same practical effect as an affirmative statement. Baker,
925 N.W.2d at 616.

Jackson has not shown that there was a failure to disclose that
amounted to a misrepresentation. First, Jackson did not show that
Jackson was sprayed with pepper spray. At the suppression hearing,
the affiant was asked if he was aware on the scene that Jackson had
been pepper sprayed. He responded, “Yeah, I think my initial
understanding was ... some innocent bystanders had been pepper
sprayed, but I assumed he had received —.” At trial, Des Moines Police
Officer Christopher Latcham testified that he located Jackson and
then pursued Jackson as he fled from an area near the collision. The
officer testified that twice he attempted to spray Jackson with pepper
spray. Tr. II, 68:11 — 69:2; 71:5 — 73:22; 78:10-18. But, when asked
whether the pepper spray hit Jackson, the officer responded,
“Honestly, I don’t know. I was trying to. In certification, you’re not
really shooting at a moving target with the [pepper spray] cannister,
but I would assume at some point, I had made some contact with
him.” Tr. II, 78:19-24. That evidence did not show that Jackson was

sprayed with pepper spray.
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The officer-affiant did not have an obligation to disclose to the
issuing magistrate that it was possible that Jackson had been sprayed
with pepper spray. Jackson has not shown that the information
contained in the affidavit regarding Jackson’s bloodshot, watery eyes
was untruthful. Evidence disputing the cause of Jackson’s bloodshot
eyes does not establish that the information was false. Therefore, that
information should not be excised from the warrant application in
reviewing whether the warrant was supported by probable cause.
Ripperger, 514 N.W.2d at 745.

Ultimately, even stripped of the challenged evidence and
considering the omitted evidence, the application still showed that
Jackson crossed the center line of the road and struck a motorcycle,
that his gait and balance were unsteady, that he was mumbling, that
his emotions were visibly excited, that he incoherent and unaware
that he had been involved in an accident and unaware why he was at
the hospital. It also showed that Jackson displayed signs of drug
impairment, including grinding his teeth, sweating, inability to stay
still, and visibly excited emotions. Even if Jackson had shown that he
had been pepper sprayed, the evidence also showed that pepper spray

would not have caused Jackson to mumble, to have an unsteady gait
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II.

or unsteady balance, and would not have affected his judgment or his
ability to reason, Supp. Tr. 22:8 — 23:18. The affiant-officer’s
observations of Jackson provided probable cause for issuance of a
warrant to obtain a bodily specimen for drug testing. The district
court properly denied Jackson’s motion to suppress the fruit of that
search. This Court should uphold that ruling and affirm Jackson’s
convictions.
The District Court Did Not Err in Admitting Testimony
about Jackson’s Medical Records to Rebut Jackson’s
Testimony That a Medical Condition, and Not
Impairment, Caused Him to Cross the Center Line and

Hit Another Vehicle; Even If the Court Had Erred, Any
Error Would Be Harmless.

Preservation of Error

The State agrees that Jackson has preserved his claims that
admission of testimony about his medical records was inadmissible
hearsay and inadmissible under the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act (HIPAA). Those claims were raised and ruled upon
in the district court. See, Tr. IV, 49:2 — 57:9.

However, Jackson has not preserved his claim that the
challenged evidence was inadmissible under the Iowa physician-
patient privilege statute, Iowa Code section 622.10 (2021). Jackson

specifically based his privilege claim on the federal HIPAA provisions;
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he did not raise a claim that the evidence was privileged under the
Iowa statute. Neither did the district court consider or rule on any
challenge under the Iowa statute. Consequently, Jackson the Court
should reject Jackson’s claim of privilege under section 622.10
without reaching its merits.

Standard of Review

Generally, the Court reviews the district court's evidentiary
rulings for abuse of discretion. State v. Einfeldt, 914 N.W.2d 773, 778
(Iowa 2018). However, the Court reviews the admission of hearsay
evidence for correction of errors at law. State v. Buelow, 951 N.W.2d
879, 884 (Iowa 2020). When hearsay is improperly admitted the
error is presumed to be prejudicial unless the State shows the
contrary. The State may show improperly admitted evidence was not
prejudicial by proving the error was harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt. State v. Huser, 894 N.W.2d 472, 495 (Iowa 2017); State v.
Paredes, 775 N.W.2d 554, 560 (Iowa 2009).

Merits

Jackson challenges the district court’s admission of testimony
from Polk County jail health services administrator Dale Peterson

about information contained in Jackson’s discharge records from
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Broadlawns Medical Center. Information about the treatment
Jackson received at the hospital on the date he crossed the centerline
and struck and killed a motorcyclist was provided to the jail from the
hospital when Jackson was released from the hospital into the
custody of the jail. That evidence was admitted to rebut Jackson’s
testimony that his driving was affected by a medical condition rather
than intoxication. Jackson contends Mr. Peterson’s testimony
violated the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act (HIPAA) and the physician-patient privilege statute, lowa Code
section 622.10. He also contends that Mr. Peterson’s testimony about
his records was inadmissible hearsay. The Court should reject
Jackson’s claims. The district court did not err in admitting the
testimony in the face of Jackson’s objection that it would violate
HIPAA as that act does not apply to the prosecution and suppression
or exclusion of evidence is not a remedy for violation of HIPPA. As
noted, Jackson has waived any claim under the Iowa privilege statute
and, even if he had not, Jackson waived that privilege by testifying
that he was suffering from a medical emergency that caused the
collision. The district court also did not err in admitting the

challenged testimony over Jackson’s hearsay objection. Moreover,
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even if the court had erred in admitting Mr. Peterson’s testimony, any
error would be harmless given the very strong evidence of Jackson’s
guilt, including very strong evidence that drug impairment rather
than a medical condition was the cause of the fatal crash.

At his trial, Jackson took the stand and testified that in 2020,
he “caught the Corona” and had some breathing issues afterward. He
“blacked out” at work “a few times.” The last time he blacked out was
at the end of July. As a result, he had to leave work, get a COVID test,
and quarantine. Tr. III, 135:6-22; 156:25 — 158:19. Jackson also
testified that he had been diagnosed with rhabdomyolysis, which
required him to stay hydrated. Tr. I1I, 136:1-5.

Jackson testified that on August 9, his COVID quarantine was
up, and he needed to get a doctor’s note to get paid for his quarantine
time. He was driving down Euclid Avenue towards Broadlawns
Medical Center. He was feeling fine, driving well, and was breathing
well. Tr. III, 136:14-24; 140:14 — 141:15. But, as turned onto MLK, he
“started to have ... tightness in my chest, my breathing became
restricted, and I passed out, blacked out at the wheel.” Tr. 111, 141:7 —

142:6. The next thing Jackson remembered, he heard a “pop, a bang,
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a loud noise, explosion” and he was surrounded by air bags and their
contents and was struggling with his seat belt. Tr. III, 142:7-23.

Jackson testified that after his arrest, police took him to
Broadlawns Medical Center. Tr. III, 151:25 — 152:21. Jackson testified
that he was admitted to the ICU because his heart rate had dropped
to 34 and his health care team was keeping him under observation to
see if his heart was going to stop again. Tr. 111, 153:24 — 154:4. He
testified that he was had not taken any drugs on August 9, and that he
was not intoxicated. He, “did not think I was in any way impaired,
intoxicated, unable to drive.” Tr. III, 155:2-14. He asserted that he
had had a “medical emergency” that caused the “accident.” Tr. III,
155:22 — 156:2.

On rebuttal, the State offered the testimony of Dale Peterson.
Mr. Peterson is employed by Wellpath, which is a medical group
contracted to provide care at the Polk County jail. Mr. Peterson works
on-site at the jail as the health services administrator, overseeing all
of the medical and mental health staff for the Polk County jail. In that
capacity, he is responsible for the medical business records that are

kept with respect to persons in the jail. Tr. IV, 58:13 — 59:10.
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Mr. Peterson testified that Jackson was admitted to the Polk
County jail on August 10, 2020; he came to the jail from Broadlawns
Medical Center. Tr. IV, 59:15-22. If an arrestee has medical issues or
concerns that need to be addressed prior to incarceration, law
enforcement officers will take the arrestee to the hospital to be
assessed and, if necessary, treated, and cleared for incarceration.
When an inmate comes to the jail from a medical facility, the jail will
receive the discharge instructions for the patient. Those instructions
show what the inmate was treated for at the hospital and will show
any follow-up appointments that are necessary and will show any
medications prescribed at the hospital. Tr. IV, 59:23 — 60:22.

Mr. Peterson testified that discharge instructions for Jackson
were received from Broadlawns Medical Center when Jackson was
admitted to jail. Tr. IV, 60:23 — 61:2. Mr. Peterson testified that those
records showed that Jackson was admitted to Broadlawns for
polysubstance abuse, rhabdomyolysis, and a motor vehicle accident.
Tr. IV, 70:9-18. Rhabdomyolysis occurs with damage to the muscular
system, typically during a state of dehydration. When the body is
really “amped up” and the person is dehydrated, the muscles all start

to break down at the same time and release large amounts of waste
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products into the bloodstream. Typically, it is treated with large
amounts of fluid. Tr. IV, 71:1-8.

Mr. Peterson also testified that Jackson’s discharge records did
not reflect that Jackson had any difficulty with breathing. Tr. IV, 61:3-
11. The records showed that Jackson’s heart rate was stable and
within normal limits. His oxygen saturation was 98%, also within
normal limits, indicating that he was breathing normally. There was
no report that Jackson had a history of blacking out or losing
consciousness. Tr. IV, 61:21 — 63:13. Based on Jackson’s medical
records, the jail put him on an alcohol and opioid detoxification
protocol. The detoxification protocol is standard protocol for the jail
any time a patient reports use of opioids or use of alcohol more
frequently than one to five days a week. Tr. IV, 63:18 — 66:2.

Jackson contends that the district court erred in admitting Mr.
Peterson’s testimony about information contained in Jackson’s
medical records. He argues that the information was inadmissible
hearsay and was also inadmissible as it was privileged under federal
HIPAA provisions and the Iowa physician-patient privilege provided

for in Iowa Code section 622.10. Jackson has not shown that the
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district court abused its discretion in admitting the testimony of Dale
Peterson.
A. HIPAA Does Not Bar Testimony about

Information Contained in Jackson’s Medical
Records.

Jackson first argues that the discharge records from
Broadlawns Medical Center were confidential under HIPAA and,
therefore, the district court erred in admitting testimony about the
content of those records. The Court should reject Jackson’s claim that
the evidence should have been excluded under the federal Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act. HIPAA does not apply
to prosecutors and, even it did, HIPAA does not contain a provision
suppressing or excluding evidence obtained in violation of the act.

Jackson asserts that there is “no real question” that Jackson’s
discharge records are covered by HIPAA. However, the question is
not whether the records are covered by HIPAA, but whether those
records are subject to exclusion in a criminal trial. The vast weight of
authority holds that they are not.

“HIPAA is a massive federal statute that consists of extensive
regulations.” State v. Downs, 2004-2402, 923 So. 2d 726, 728 (La.

App. 1 Cir. Sept. 23, 2005). Those regulations identify and limit select
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entities' capacity to disclose patients' medical records. Downs at 728.
“Pursuant to 45 C.F.R. §§ 160.102 and 164.104, HIPAA regulations
apply only to a health plan, a health care clearinghouse, and a health
care provider who transmits any health information in electronic
form in connection with a transaction.” Downs, at 731; and see
Commonuwealth v. Williams, 2017 PA Super 382, 176 A.3d 298, 317
(2017). The regulations provide limited circumstances when
disclosures are permitted for judicial and administrative proceedings.
Downs, at 728 (citing 45 C.F.R. § 164.512). HIPAA does not create a
privilege for patients' medical information; it merely provides the
procedures to follow for the disclosure of that information from a
“covered entity.” People v. Bauer, 402 Ill. App. 3d 1149, 1158, 931
N.E.2d 1283, 1291 (2010) (citing United States v. Bek, 493 F.3d 790,
802 (7th Cir. 2007) and Northwestern Memorial Hospital v.
Ashcroft, 362 F.3d 923, 925—26 (7th Cir. 2004)).

Iowa has not considered whether HIPAA applies to prosecutors.

Other courts that have considered the issue, however, have found

! An individual who believes his rights under HIPAA have been
violated may file a complaint with the Office of Civil Rights,
Department of Health and Human Services, the federal agency that
enforces the regulations. State v. Eichhorst, 879 N.E.2d 1144, 1154—
55 (Ind. Ct. App. 2008) (citing 45 C.F.R. § 160.306).
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that HIPAA does not apply as prosecutors are not “covered entities.”
See Downs, 923 So. 2d at 731; Williams, 176 A.3d at 317 (2017); State

[113

v. Carter, 23 So.3d 798, 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009) (““Covered entities’
do not include law enforcement officers or prosecutors, and the
conduct of these officials is not governed by HIPAA.”); Bauer, 931
N.E.2d at 1291—92 (“Although HIPAA provides for penalties against
entities that fail to comply with its provisions ... law enforcement
agencies, including the office of the State’s Attorney, are not covered
entities under HIPAA.”). This Court should find that the county
prosecutors was not a covered entity under HIPAA and that Jackson’s
medical records were not privileged under HIPAA.

Neither has Iowa considered whether evidence obtained in
violation of HIPAA must be suppressed or excluded. Again, other
courts that have considered the issue has found that the evidence is
not subject to suppression or exclusion.

Exclusion of evidence is proper only where the statute violated
provides for such exclusion, or where a constitutional violation has

(113

occurred. Carter, 23 So.3d at 801. “HIPAA provides for criminal and
civil penalties against entities that fail to comply with its provisions.”

United States v. Yazzie, 998 F. Supp. 2d 1044, 1116 (D.N.M. 2014)
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(internal quotation and citation omitted). However, HIPAA does not
create a privilege for patients' medical information; it merely provides
the procedures to follow for the disclosure of that information from a
“covered entity.” Bauer, 931 N.E.2d at 1291—92 (HIPAA does not
contain a remedy of suppression of evidence obtained in violation of
the act). Suppression or exclusion of evidence in a criminal
proceeding is not a remedy for violation of HIPAA. State v. Eichhorst,
879 N.E.2d 1144, 1154-55 (Ind. App. 2008) (finding that suppression
of evidence is not a remedy for violation of HIPAA); State v.
Straehler, 307 Wis.2d 360, 368, 745 N.W.2d 431, 435 (2007)
(“HIPAA does not provide for suppression of the evidence as a
remedy for a HIPAA violation”); State v. Yenzer, 40 Kan. App. 2d 710,
195 P.3d 271 (2008) ("[E]ven if Yenzer could show a HIPAA violation,
the district court did not err in denying Yenzer's motion to
suppress.”); Rodriguez v. State, 469 S.W.3d 626, 635—36 (Tex. App.
2015) (“we cannot read the exclusionary rule into a statute when its
remedial provision is silent on suppression.”); State v. Mubita, 145
Idaho 925, 188 P.3d 867, 878 (2008) (finding that suppression of
evidence is not the proper remedy for a HIPAA violation) (abrogated

on other grounds by Verska v. Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr., 151

50



Idaho 889, 265 P.3d 502 (2011)); United States v. Zamora, 408 F.
Supp. 2d 295, 298 (S.D. Tex. 2006) (HIPAA was not intended to be a
means for evading criminal prosecution); United States v. Yazzie, 998
F. Supp. 2d at 1116 (stating that “suppressing medical records does
not appear to be an appropriate remedy for a HIPAA violation™);
Elder—Evins v. Casey, 2012 WL 2577589 (N.D. Cal. July 3, 2012) (“As
other courts have noted, HIPAA does not have a suppression remedy.
And where this is the case, it is inappropriate for the court to exclude
evidence on this basis.” (citation and footnote omitted)); United
States v. Streich, 560 F.3d 926, 935 (9th Cir. 2009)(Kleinfeld, J.,
concurring)(“HIPAA does not provide any private right of action,
much less a suppression remedy.”)).

Indeed, “when the Department of Health and Human Services
(DHHS) promulgated the HIPAA regulations, it declared: ‘We shape
the rule's provisions with respect to law enforcement according to the
limited scope of our regulatory authority under HIPAA, which applies
only to the covered entities and not to law enforcement officials.”
Rodriguez, 469 S.W.3d at 635—36 (quoting 65 Fed. Reg. 82462,
82679 (Dec. 28, 2000) (agency's response to public comments in

connection with promulgation of final rule)). “DHHS recognized that,
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‘under the HIPAA statutory authority, [DHHS] cannot impose
sanctions on law enforcement officials or require suppression of

2%

evidence.” Rodriguez, 469 S.W.3d at 635 (quoting 65 Fed. Reg. at
82679).

Testimony about information contained in Jackson’s hospital
records were not privileged under HIPAA as the county attorney is
not a “covered entity” within the meaning of HIPAA. Even if
Jackson’s medical records had been obtained in violation of HIPAA,
they would not be subject to exclusion or suppression on HIPAA
grounds. The district court did not abuse its discretion in overruling
Jackson’s objection to the challenged evidence on the ground that it
was privileged and inadmissible under HIPAA.

B. Jackson Failed to Preserve His Claim that His

Medical Records Were Privileged under Iowa
Code Section 622.10 and He Waived Any Privilege

by Testifying that a Medical Condition Caused
Him to Lose Control and Strike the Victim.

As noted above, Jackson failed to preserve his claim of privilege
under Iowa Code section 622.10 as he did not argue in the district
court that the testimony of Dale Peterson regarding information
contained in Jackson’s medical records was inadmissible under that

statute. Instead, Jackson argued only that admission of Mr.
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Peterson’s testimony was barred by the federal HIPAA provisions.
Accordingly, the Court should decline to reach Jackson’s claim under
section 622.10. However, should the Court choose to reach the merits
of Jackson’s claim, it should reject that claim as Jackson waived any
privileged that might have applied under the Iowa statute.

Even if the Court could reach the merits of Jackson’s claim that
his medical records are privileged under Iowa Code section 622.10, he
waived the protection of that privilege by testifying about his medical
condition at the time that he was admitted to the hospital and
testifying about the course of his treatment at the hospital.

Iowa Code section 622.10 provided in pertinent part as follows.

1. A practicing attorney, counselor, physician, surgeon, physician
assistant, advanced registered nurse practitioner, mental health
professional, or the stenographer or confidential clerk of any
such person, who obtains information by reason of the person's
employment, or a member of the clergy shall not be allowed, in
giving testimony, to disclose any confidential communication
properly entrusted to the person in the person's professional
capacity, and necessary and proper to enable the person to
discharge the functions of the person's office according to the
usual course of practice or discipline.

2. The prohibition does not apply to cases where the person in
whose favor the prohibition is made waives the rights conferred;
nor does the prohibition apply to physicians or surgeons,
physician assistants, advanced registered nurse practitioners,
mental health professionals, or to the stenographer or
confidential clerk of any physicians or surgeons, physician
assistants, advanced registered nurse practitioners, or mental
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health professionals, in a civil action in which the condition of
the person in whose favor the prohibition is made is an element
or factor of the claim or defense of the person or of any party
claiming through or under the person. The evidence is admissible
upon trial of the action only as it relates to the condition alleged.

* % % %
Iowa Code § 622.10 (2021).

Generally, waiver of the privilege may be express or implied.
Squealer Feeds v. Pickering, 530 N.W.2d 678, 684 (Iowa 1995)
(abrogated on other grounds by Wells Dairy, Inc. v. American
Indus. Refrigeration, Inc., 690 N.W.2d 38, 44 (Iowa 2004)). An
implied waiver occurs when a litigant asserts an issue that puts a
communication in play. Id. Here, Jackson waived his physician-
patient privilege when he testified that the collision was caused by a
medical emergency rather than impairment with a drug and testified
that medical staff discovered that he had a low pulse and kept him
under observation to make sure his heart would not stop again.

The State recognizes that our Supreme Court has held that the
mere denial of an element or factor of an opponent's case does not
make that element or factor part of the case of the person making the
denial such that the privilege is waived. See Chung v. Legacy Corp.,

548 N.W.2d 147, 150 (Iowa 1996). However, Chung is distinguishable
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from this case. There, the plaintiff in a civil case filed an application
for the permission to take the deposition of the physician who treated
the driver of the vehicle that struck Chung’s vehicle. He also sought
production of the driver ’s medical records to show his condition and
state of intoxication. That driver raised a claim of privilege. Chung,
548 N.W.2d at 148. Our Supreme Court held that “the mere act of
denying the existence of an element or factor of an adversary's claim
does not fall within the statutory [waiver] language” of Iowa Code
section 622.10(2). Chung, 548 N.W.2d at 150. Chung, however,
involved a mere general denial of the allegations of a civil petition.
The Court did not consider whether a defendant in a criminal case
waives the privilege when he takes the stand and makes claims about
his medical condition that, if true, would tend to exculpate him.
Chung does not control this case.

The State also recognizes that in Roling, a panel of our Court of
Appeal rejected the State’s argument that Roling, charged with
operating while intoxicated and failure to yield, opened the door to
admission of otherwise privileged medical records when he testified
he was seeking medical help for sleep apnea, and he was unaware of

the condition before the accident. The State argued the privilege
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should be waived whenever a defendant puts his medical condition in
issue as a defense to a charged crime. The panel rejected that
argument.

In rejecting the State’s argument, the Court relied upon the
intent of section 622.10 to promote uninhibited and full
communication between a patient and his doctor so the doctor will
obtain the information necessary to competently diagnose and treat
the patient. State v. Roling, No. 0-710, 2001 WL 98935, at *3 (Iowa
Ct. App. Feb. 7, 2001). The purpose underlying our privilege statute is
not hindered by recognizing an exception to the privilege where the
defendant chooses to testify to his own medical condition. Disclosure
of the medical information would remain fully within the control of
the defendant; his or her medical records would not be disclosed so
long as he or she does not open the door by testifying about them.

The Court should decline to follow Roling. First, the panel’s
decision in that case is not controlling authority. See, lowa R. App. P.
6.904(2)(c); and see State v. Lindsey, 881 N.W.2d 411, 414, fn. 1
(Iowa 2016) (Recognizing that “[u]nder Iowa Rule of Appellate
Procedure 6.904(2)(c), unpublished decisions of the court of appeals

do not constitute binding authority on appeal.”). Second, section
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622.10 does not directly address the situation where a defendant
seeks exclusion of his own medical records and, as noted, the purpose
of the privilege statute would not be undermined by finding waiver in
cases such as this.

The reasoning of Roling is not sound.

As one leading commentator has stated,

Doubtless, if the patient on direct examination testifies to or

adduces other evidence of, the communications exchanged or the

information furnished to the doctor consulted this would waive

[privilege] in respect to such consultations.
1 McCormick on Evid. § 103 (8th ed.). Further, McCormick has noted
that when “the patient in his or her direct testimony does not reveal
any privileged matter respecting the consultation, but testifies only to
physical or mental condition, existing at the time of such
consultation,” some courts hold that fairness requires a finding that
the patient waived privilege by tendering to the jury his physical
condition. McCormick notes other courts hold that the patient's
testimony as to his or her condition without disclosure of privileged
matter is not a waiver but points out that the approach finding waiver

“has the merit of curtailing the scope of a privilege that some view as

obstructive.” Id.
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This Court should hold that Jackson waived any privilege under
section 822.10 when he testified that he blacked out just prior to
striking the victim’s motorcycle and when he testified that he was
admitted to the ICU because his heart rate had dropped to 34 and his
health care team was keeping him under observation to see if his
heart stopped again. Tr. III, 153:24 — 154:4. Once Jackson made those
claims, the State was entitled to rebut his testimony by adducing
testimony showing that Jackson’s medical records did not support his
claims.

Should the Court reach the merits of Jackson’s claim of
privilege under the Iowa statue, the Court should hold that Jackson
waived his privilege when he took the stand and testified that a
medical condition caused his fatal collision, and that medical staff
noted his condition and kept him under observation for it. A
defendant should not be permitted to claim that he is not criminally
culpable for his act as it was caused by a medical emergency and then

use a claim of medical privilege to shield his claim from scrutiny.
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C. The District Court Did Not Err in Rejecting
Jackson’s Hearsay Objection to Testimony About
His Medical Records.

Jackson also contends that testimony about his medical
treatment was inadmissible hearsay. Hearsay is:
a statement that:

(1) The declarant does not make while testifying at the current
trial or hearing; and

(2) A party offers into evidence to prove the truth of the matter
asserted in the statement.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c).

Initially, the State notes that Mr. Peterson’s testimony that
Jackson’s medical records did not report that Jackson had any
difficulty with breathing and did not report that Jackson had a history
of blacking out or losing consciousness was not hearsay testimony.
There was no “statement” by Jackson and, therefore, no hearsay as
defined by Rule 5.801(a). Thus, the Court should reject Jackson’s
challenge to Dale Peterson’s testimony that Jackson’s discharge
records did not reflect that Jackson had any difficulty with breathing,
Tr. IV, 61:3-11, and that he did not report a history of blacking out or

losing consciousness. Tr. IV, 61:21 — 63:13.
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The Court should also reject Jackson’s challenge to Mr.
Peterson’s testimony about information contained in Jackson’s
medical records. Mr. Peterson testified that Jackson’s discharge show
that Jackson’s heart rate was stable and within normal limits and his
oxygen saturation was 98%, within normal limits, indicating that he
was breathing normally. Tr. IV, 61:21 — 63:13. His testimony fell
within recognized exceptions to the rule against hearsay.

“Hearsay is not admissible unless any of the following provide
otherwise: the Constitution of the State of Iowa; a statute; these rules
of evidence; or an Iowa Supreme Court rule.” Iowa R. Evid. 5.802.
Exceptions to the rule against hearsay include exception for “records

<

of a regularly conducted activity,” “statements made for medical
diagnosis or treatment,” and “statement[s] of the declarant's then
existing state of mind ... or emotional, sensory, or physical condition.”
State v. Buelow, 951 N.W.2d 879, 884 (Iowa 2020) (quoting Iowa R.
Evid. 5.803(3), (4), (6)).

In addition, a hearsay statement may, itself, include hearsay.
“Hearsay within hearsay is not excluded by the rule against hearsay if

each part of the combined statements conforms with an exception to

the rule.” Iowa R. Evid. 5.805. As Professor Doré explains,
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A common example of ... double or multiple hearsay is a business
record admissible under Rule 5.803(6) that includes statements
by a declarant under no business duty to report. If the including
statement, the business record, is admissible, the included
statement will be admissible if it meets the requirements of
another hearsay exception, such as present sense impression or
excited utterances, statements of then-existing state of mind or
statements for medical diagnosis or treatment. When each
statement falls within an exception, the rule accepts the
reliability of the including and included statements in
combination.
* X Kk ¥

Not infrequently the included statement will be an
opposing party's statement. Although a statement of a party-
opponent is not hearsay by definition in rule 5.801(d)(2), the
admissibility decision will be based on the same analytical
framework applied to hearsay within hearsay. The including
statement, if offered for the truth of the matter asserted, will
require a hearsay exception. If a hearsay exception is found for
the including statement, the included statement should be
examined to determine if it is also hearsay and requires an
exception or, although offered for its truth, is an opposing party's
statement or other form of declaration not defined as hearsay.

7 IA PRAC § 5.805:1 (footnotes omitted).

The district court admitted Dale Peterson’s challenged

testimony on the ground that his testimony was not being admitted

for the truth of the matters asserted and that it fell within the hearsay

exception for then-existing state of mind or physical condition. Tr.

56:19 — 57:9. This Court may affirm admission of evidence if it was

properly admissible on any ground. State v. Fontenot, 958 N.W.2d

549, 556 (Iowa 2021).
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Jackson’s medical records were admissible under the hearsay
exception for business records. See Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(6). To admit
a business record and avoid exclusion as hearsay, a party must
establish a foundation for the record, including: (1) That it is a
business record; (2) That it was made at or near the time of an act; (3)
That it was made by, or from information transmitted by, a person
with knowledge; (4) That it was kept in the course of a regularly
conducted business activity; and (5) that it was the regular practice of
that business activity to make such a business record. State v. Fiems,
No. 18-2241, 947 N.W.2d 672 (Iowa Ct. App. 2020) (citing State v.
Reynolds, 746 N.W.2d 837, 841 (Iowa 2008)). The conditions must
be “shown by the testimony of the custodian or another qualified
witness” or be certified by the custodian. Fiems, 947 N.W.2d 672
(quoting Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(6)(D)). The opposing party then has a
chance to show the source of information or the preparation of the
record indicate a lack of trustworthiness. Fiems, 947 N.W.2d 672
(citing Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(6)(E)).

The testimony of Dale Peterson showed that Jackson’s medical
records were made when Jackson was admitted to the hospital after

his arrest, the records were made by medical personnel at Broadlawns
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Medical Center and that the records were made and transmitted by
persons with knowledge of Jackson’s condition. The records were also
kept in the course of regularly conducted business activity on the part
of Broadlawns and the Polk County jail, and it was the regular
practice of the hospital and the jail to make and keep those business
records. Mr. Peterson’s testimony about those records was therefore
admissible under the exception for records of a regularly conducted
activity, Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.803(6). State v. Buelow, 951 N.W.2d
879, 884—-85 (Iowa 2020); see also In re Est. of Poulos, 229 N.W.2d
721, 727 (Iowa 1975) (“We have long held that medical and hospital
records are admissible, upon proper foundation, as an exception to
the hearsay rule.”).

Likewise, to the extent that that the medical records, and Mr.
Peterson’s testimony about them, relied upon the out-of-court
statements of Jackson himself, Mr. Peterson’s testimony did not run
afoul of the rule against hearsay. The statements of a party opponent
are not hearsay. See Iowa R. Evid. 801(d)(2); and see State v.
Tillman, 532 N.W.2d 482, 484 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995).

To the extent that Jackson’s medical records include

information he provided regarding his current health, feelings, and
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plans, that evidence was also admissible under the exception allowing
for “[a] statement of the declarant's then existing state of mind ... or
emotional, sensory, or physical condition.” Jackson’s statements
within the medical records regarding his current health, feelings, and
plans are admissible under the exception allowing for “[a] statement
of the declarant's then existing state of mind ... or emotional, sensory,
or physical condition.” Buelow, 951 N.W.2d at 885 (quoting Iowa R.
Evid. 5.803(3)).

Those portions of Jackson’s records from Broadlawns Medical
Center that report or rely on Jackson’s own statements also fall within
the exception for statements made for the purpose of medical
diagnosis or treatment. Buelow, 951 N.W.2d at 884—85; and see Iowa
R. Evid. 5.803(4)). Under this exception, a statement is admissible if
it is “made for—and is reasonably pertinent to—medical diagnosis or
treatment; and ... [d]escribes medical history, past or present
symptoms or sensations, or the inception or general cause of
symptoms or sensations.” Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(4)(A)—(B). Typically,
such statements are “likely to be reliable because the patient has a
selfish motive to be truthful” given that “the effectiveness of the

medical treatment rests on the accuracy of the information imparted
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to the doctor.” State v. Adams, No. 21-0916, 2022 WL 5068010, at *4
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 5, 2022) (quoting State v. Smith, 876 N.W.2d 180,
185 (Iowa 2016) (citations omitted)).

Jackson has not shown that the district court erred in rejecting
his hearsay objection to Dale Peterson’s testimony about the contents
of his medical records. Mr. Peterson’s testimony that the records did
not reflect that Jackson had any difficulty with breathing and that
Jackson did not report that he had a history of blacking out or losing
consciousness is not hearsay. Further, the records themselves fall
with the business records exception to the rule against hearsay and
information contained in those records that was supplied by Jackson
falls within the exceptions for statements of a party opponent,
statements of then-existing physical condition, and statements made
for the purpose of diagnosis or treatment. The district court properly
rejected Jackson’s hearsay objection to Dale Peterson’s testimony
about the contents of Jackson’s medical records.

D. Any Error in Admitting Testimony About the

Contents of Jackson’s Medical Records Was
Harmless.

Finally, even if the court had erred in admitting the challenged

testimony, any error would be harmless. A reversal is required for the
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improper admission of evidence only if the exclusion affected a
substantial right of a party. Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a). “In a case of
nonconstitutional error, the Court ‘presume[s] prejudice—that is, a
substantial right of the defendant is affected—and reverse[s] unless
the record affirmatively establishes otherwise.”” Buelow, 951 N.W.2d
at 890 (quoting State v. Sullivan, 679 N.W.2d 19, 30 (Iowa 2004)).
This court has “relied on the existence of overwhelming evidence in
finding harmless error.” Buelow, 951 N.W.2d at 890 (quoting State v.
Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196, 210 (Iowa 2008) (overwhelming guilt was
present when multiple eyewitnesses identified the defendant, the
defendant admitted to another that he committed the crime, and the
defendant's alibi could not be corroborated)).

Here, there was overwhelming evidence that Jackson was
driving the car that struck and killed a motorcyclist and
overwhelming evidence that drug impairment, and not a medical
condition, caused Jackson to cross the center line and strike the
victim. That evidence is set out in detail in the statement of the facts,
above. Briefly, witness Timothy Gilbert saw a black Prius cross the

center line and strike a motorcyclist. Tr. II, 35:2-25; 36:5-9; 36:10-24.
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Witness Ashley Hobbs saw Jackson get out of the Prius. Tr. II, p. 47,

lines 14-21; p. 44, line 9 — p. 45, line 8; p. 45, lines 15-20; p. 47, lines
17-21. Tr.****_ Jackson immediately denied that he had been driving.
Tr. I, p. 45, lines 9-14; p. 47, lines 2-9. He then left the scene. Tr. II,

p. 48, lines 7-19.

Jackson had more than twice the therapeutic dose of
methamphetamine in his system. Tr. III, 15:11-13; 21:11 — 22:8; 25:20
— 26:16. He also exhibited symptoms consistent with
methamphetamine intoxication. Tr. II, 163:24 — 164:8. Further,
Jackson never told anyone at the scene or officers that he was
suffering from a medical emergency. In light of the overwhelming
evidence of Jackson’s guilt, he would not be prejudiced by any error
in admitting testimony about his medical records.

The district court properly admitted testimony about the
contents of Jackson’s medical records. Those records were not subject
to exclusion or suppression under federal HIPAA provisions. Jackson
failed to preserve his challenge under the Iowa privilege statute and,
even if the Court were to reach Jackson’s claim under the Iowa
statute, it should hold that Jackson waived his physician-patient

privilege when he testified that he was suffering from a medical
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emergency at the time of the crash and to the actions of medical staff
in reaction to that claimed medical emergency. Jackson has also
failed to show that testimony about the contents of his medical
records was inadmissible hearsay. Consequently, the Court should
reject Jackson’s challenge to admission of testimony regarding his
medical records and affirm his convictions.

CONCLUSION

The Court should affirm David Dwight Jackson’s convictions for
homicide by vehicle, operating a motor vehicle while Intoxicated,
leaving the scene of an accident resulting in death, and theft in the
second degree.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

Oral argument is unlikely to assist the Court in deciding the
issue raised on appeal. Therefore, the State waives oral argument.
However, if appellant is granted oral argument, counsel for appellee

desires to be heard in oral argument, as well.
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ROUTING STATEMENT

This case can be decided based on existing legal principles.
Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Nature of the Case

This is a direct appeal by the defendant Anthony Alexander
Mong from his convictions for attempted murder, intimidation with a
dangerous weapon, willfull injury causing bodily injury, and going
armed with intent. Sentencing Order; Notice of Appeal; App. ___ .

Course of Proceedings

The State accepts the defendant’s course of proceedings as
adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Facts

Madison had been dating Anthony Mong but broke off their
relationship in May of 2018. Mong had been jealous of Madison’s
friendship with Ricco Martin and had made a number of threats
against him, including a threat to kill him. On June 1, 2018, Mong
drove to the home where Madison lived with her family while Ricco
Martin was visiting. Mong drove past and looked at a group of people
outside the house, then turned around, drove back to the house.

Mong got out of the car and shot in the direction of Ricco Martin.
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Shane Woods was near Ricco at the time and was shot through the
back.

Twenty-two-year-old Madison Cobb lived with her parents
Heather and Todd Hines at their home at 8185 Franklin Avenue. Tr.
I1, 45:18-46:4. Ms. Cobb started dating Anthony Mong in early
November of 2017 and had what Ms. Cobb thought was an exclusive
relationship, although she eventually learned that Mong was also
dating a woman she knew only as Rachael. Tr. II, 46:16-47:13; 49:4-
24. Madison and Mong’s relationship was “very on and off all the
time.” She broke up with Mong for the last time no more than two
weeks before the date of the shooting. Tr. II, 56:7-15; 58:10-15;
58:16-20.

Todd and Heather Hines owned a semi-pro football team in
Iowa and Ricco played for their team. Madison met Ricco through
football events she was involved in. He became friends with the
whole family and would go to their home on occasion. Madison and
Ricco were friends before she met the defendant. Tr. II, 47:21-49:3;
92:6-93:25. Madison considered to be a friend whom she had never
dated. Tr.II, 48:9-25. Ricco considered he and Madison to be

“friends with benefits.” Tr. II, 94:3-7.
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Ricco had met Mong, but they did not have much interaction.
Ricco got “a bad vibe” from Mong and tried to avoid him. Tr. II, 94:8-
22. The year before the shooting, Ricco had received thirty to forty
intimidating text messages from Mong, one after the other. Ricco had
texted Mong back to tell him that he was not afraid of Mong. Ricco
then changed his phone number to avoid receiving further messages
from Mong. Tr. II, 96:13-98:16.

Ricco would visit Madison parents at their home and Madison
would also be home when Ricco visited. The defendant was not
happy about that and he voiced his displeasure to Madison. Tr. II,
49:25-50:17.

Just before June 1, Ricco and Mong had an argument during
which Mong told Ricco that “he wasn’t going to fight me; he was
going to shoot me.” That was the last time Ricco saw Mong before
June 1. Tr. II, 94:23-95:5; 96:6-9. Madison was present when the
defendant and Ricco had an argument. She, too, heard Mong tell
Ricco that, “he was done arguing, he didn’t want to fight anymore,
that he was just going to shoot [Ricco].” Tr. II, 50:18-51:6.

On June 1, Ricco was at the Hines home. Sometime around

8:00 p.m., Ricco was outside the home with Todd Hines, David
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Woods, and Shane Woods. The men were just standing there having
a conversation when Mong drove by, made a U-turn in front of the
elementary school right across the street from Hines’ home, and came
back. Tr. I, 99:7 -100:11. Todd Hines told Ricco to go inside, but he
did not. Ricco saw Mong jump out of the car. He saw Mong run
behind a tree. Then, he saw Mong’s arm reach around the tree and
shoot. Shane was hit. Tr. II, 100:12-101:21; 114:5-13.

Ricco ran to Shane’s aid. Tr. II, 101:22-25. Ricco believed that
Mong was trying to shoot him instead of Shane. Tr. I, 102:20-23.

Before Mong jumped behind the tree, Ricco had seen Todd
Hines come out onto the deck with a gun. Ricco believed that Mong
saw the gun, as well, and that was why Mong jumped behind a tree.
Tr. II, 113:19-114:7. Ricco took the gun from Todd because he did not
want him to get into trouble. Tr. II, 104:7-105:1. Someone then took
the gun from Ricco and put it in the house. Tr. II, 106:24-107:5.
Ricco did not fire a gun that day. Likewise, Todd Hines never pointed
a gun nor fired a gun that day. Tr. II, 117:9-17.

Todd Hines became friends with Ricco Martin when Ricco
played football on the semi-pro football team Todd and Heather

Hines owned. Todd Hines met Anthony Mong through some off the
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other football players. Tr. II, 207;4- 208:2. Mong dated Todd’s
daughter Madison. Tr. II, 208:15-20.

Todd testified that Mong and Ricco Martin did not get along.
Within two weeks of June 1, Todd was present when Mong threatened
Ricco. Mong told Ricco that he would not fight him; he was just going
to shoot him. Tr. II, 208:21-210:4.

Mong had taken a red Cadillac to Todd’s house around
Saturday, March 24. Todd was going to put a starter and some other
parts on the car and then the car was going to be returned to Mong.
Mong was at the house on Thursday, May 31 talking to Todd about
the Cadillac. Todd told Mong that he would give him the title to the
car and the car keys and told him to come back over the weekend to
get the car. Tr. II, 223:24-225:4.

Todd recalled that around 8:00 p.m. on June 1, 2018, his
nephew David Wood, David’s father Shane Wood, and Ricco Martin
were outside. His wife and children were inside the house. Tr. II,
210:5-25. Todd noticed Mong driving down the street in a Hyundai
Sonata; the music in the car was blaring loudly. The vehicle belonged

to “Rachel,” he was not sure of her last name. Tr. II, 212:7-24.
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Todd saw Mong drive past his house, go around the corner, turn
around in the circle lot at the school and saw him making his way
back to Todd’s house. He thought, “Oh, boy, it’s going to happen
now.”

Todd ran inside to his bedroom, got his gun, and went back
outside. He had the gun tucked into the back of his waistband. Tr. II,
214:2-24. When he first walked outside with his gun, Todd saw Mong
walking into his driveway. He saw that Mong had a gun in his hand.
Tr. II, 218:25-219:12. Todd thought Mong was going to shoot Ricco.
Tr. II, 212:25-213:18. As Mong had driven past his house, Todd
thought he heard Mong rack the gun, chamber a bullet. Tr. II, 219:13-
220:10; 223:16-23.

Todd saw Mond approaching his driveway and told him, “Don’t
do this.” He said that twice. Then he ran into the house because the
shooting started. He was inside the house but standing by the sliding
door to his home and looking outside when he heard Mong fire two
shots. Tr. II, 215:4-8; 218:17-24; 228:21-23. He turned around and
told Shane to run because Mong was shooting. Shane said, “I'm hit.”

Todd told his wife to call 911, then he realized that his phone was in

his pocket, so he called 911, too. Tr. II, 218:4-10; 220:14-221:1.
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When the police arrived, they took Todd to the police station
and questioned him. He told them he had a gun. Tr. 221:4-16.

Todd testified that he had been going to draw his gun and point
it towards Mong, but Ricco grabbed his arm and reminded him that
there were children playing outside in the neighbor’s yard. Todd did
not point the gun, then. He dropped it or it fell out of his waistband
and Ricco took it. Todd did not shoot his gun. Tr. II, 215:9-9-15;
217:17-218:3; 228:23-229:4. Todd estimated there were at least eight
teenaged girls outside jumping on a trampoline in the neighbor’s
yard. Tr. II, 215:9-216:9.

David Woods is Shane Woods son. Tr. II, 173:15-22. He was at
the Hines home on June 1. He, his dad, his uncle Todd Hines, and
Ricco Martin were outside smoking a cigarette and talking about
baseball when he saw Anthony Mong drive by in a dark blue or black
Hyundai. He had seen Mong in that vehicle before. Mong gave the
men “a little stare down” as he drove by. David saw Mong turn
around at the school, then Mong “cranked his music and came back.”
Tr. 11, 174:8-177:1.

David’s instincts told him that something was going to happen,

so he went to the garage and grabbed a ball bat. He could see in
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Mong’s face that something was going to happen. Tr. II, 177:3-11;
181:14-19. While David was in the garage, he heard a gunshot and
heard his uncle say, “He’s got a gun,” then heard his dad yell, “I'm hit.
I'm hit.” Tr. II, 177:12-19. David immediately left the garage. He saw
that his dad was bleeding and he chased after Mong with the baseball
bat. Mong got back in his car really quickly and sped off. Tr. II,
177:14-179:1; 180:5-12.

On June 1, 2018, Madison was at home with her parents, her
uncle Shane Woods, her cousin David Woods, and her younger
siblings. Ricco Martin was also there. Tr. II, 46:5-15. That evening,
Madison was inside her home and was just about to open the door to
go outside when she heard a gunshot. Madison opened the door and
saw what she recognized as defendant’s back and then saw him open
the door to Rachael’s Hyundai Sonata, get in, and drive off. Madison
was familiar with the car and had ridden in it with Mong “plenty of
times.” She knew it was Rachel’s car. Tr. I, 51:7-55:9; 58:21-25;
Exhs. 14, 15 (photographs of car); App. --.

Madison then noticed her uncle Shane Woods leaning up
against the garage. She saw that there was blood pouring out of

Shane’s shirt. Tr. II, 55:10-17.
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Heather Hines is married to Todd Hines and is the mother of
Madison Hines. Tr. II, 158:14-159:2. She testified that Shane Woods
was living with her family on June 1. Tr. II, 171:16-21. Heather was
aware that there was a conflict between Mong and Ricco. A few weeks
before the shooting, she had heard Mong threaten to beat up Ricco or
just shoot him. Tr. II, 164:7-23; 165:6-10. She was not aware of any
conflict between Mong and Todd Hines. Tr. II, 163:21-164:6.

Heather Hines was inside the house on June 1 and did not see
Shane Woods get shot. Tr. II, 162:18-21. Her husband called her
outside and she found that Shane had been shot. She called 911. Tr.
I1, 162:4-12. Ricco gave her a gun that night, though, and asked her
to put it upstairs in their room for Todd. She took the gun and put it
under their mattress. Tr. II, 167:15-18; 170:19- 171:1.

Shane Woods lives with the Hines family. Tr. II, 239:21-240:9.
On the evening of June 1, 2018, Shane was outside with his son David
and Ricco. Shane and David were smoking cigarettes and talking
about baseball. Shane was playing for a semi-pro baseball team and
David coached the team and they were talking about the game. Tr. II,

241:8-242:6. Shane saw Mong drive by and pulled up on front of the
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yard, but then went on. Mong went around the corner the school and
turned around and came back. Tr. II, 242:10-243:25.

Mong stopped in front of the house, got out of the car, and
walked to the back of the car. By that time, Todd had gone into the
house and come back out. Shane heard Todd say, “Don’t Tony,
don’t.” Shane looked and saw that Mong was at the driveway with a
gun pulled. Tr. II, 2444:1-20.

Shane did not have any ongoing conflict with Mong; he “had no
problems with him at all.” Tr. I, 243:4-13. When he saw that Mong
had a gun, he did not run because he did not think he had a problem.
Shane just turned around to walk back towards the house. He heard a
shot and he was hit on the left side of his back. The bullet came out of
his arm. Tr. I, 244:21-245:2. At the time he was shot, Shane was
approximately six to eight feet from Ricco, who was standing by the
front of the deck. Shane and Ricco were talking back and forth. Tr.
I11, 25:15-27:11; Exh. 10 (photograph); App. .

Rachael Janousek is the fiancée of the defendant. By the time
of trial, they and had been in relationship with him for five years.
Before June 2, 2018, she spent time with Mong at the home of her

friend Rachel. Rachel lived in a house at 913 62nd street with her
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fiancé and the two sons. Janousek and Mong “pretty much” lived
there full-time. Tr. II, 75:15-77:23.

On June 1, Mong and his friend Brandon, known as Griz,
dropped Janousek off at work. Janousek worked 4:00 p.m. to either
8:00 or 9:00 p.m. that day. Mong was driving Rachael’s Hyundai
Sonata. The same car Madison Cobb had seen Mong leave in after the
shooting. Tr. II, 78:4-80:22; 87:17-88:1; Exh. 15 (photograph of car);
App.__ .

Mong was supposed to pick Janousek up after she got off work
but he did not do so. She called him a few times and drank with her
co-workers for about one and one-half hours while she waited for
defendant, then got tired of waiting. She started walking home and
then had another friend pick. Her up. The friend was going to take
Janousek to her mother’s house, but then Janousek got a call from a
detective telling her that her car had been towed, so the friend took
Janousek to the Clive Police Department. Tr. II, 80:23-82:8.

Janousek gave police permission to search her impounded car.
Tr. II, 83:3-25. She testified that it was not her who put a shell casing
in her car. Tr. II, 86:8-13. Ms. Janousek’s boss verified that she

clocked out of work at 9:47 p.m. on June 1. Tr. III, 77:8-21.
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Willie Carl McClairen, Jr. is a general surgeon. Tr. III, 8:25-
9:17. He was one of the attending trauma surgeons when Shane
Woods was brought into the emergency room at about 9:10 p.m. Tr.
III, 11:3-8; 14:20-15:4. He testified that Shane was shot in the back of
his lower left chest and the bullet traveled through his chest cavity
and exited through the front. The bullet passed close enough to
Shane’s lung to cause a wave to contuse the lung, but did not hit the
lung. Dr. McClairen testified that there are vital organs throughout
the chest — the heart, lungs, major blood vessels — and if the bullet
had struck any of those Shane could have died. Tr. III, 12:3-13:7.

At the scene of the shooting, police found a 9-millimeter shell
casing. There were also cigarette butts lying on the ground in the area
by the deck, near where the casing was found. The casing was found
against the west curb on Northwest 82nd Street. Tr. III, 60:8-18; p.
64:25-65:18; 67:8-15Exh. 1 (aerial photograph; App. .

Officers located Rachel Janousek’s black Hyundai Sonata later
on the night of the shooting. An officer looked into the car and saw a
live round on the passenger seat. Tr. 111, 32:3- 8; 36:1-37:21; 38:9-

24; 44:10-17. Ms. Janousak gave police permission to search her car
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and they seized a 9-millimeter shell from the front passenger seat. Tr.
I11, 77:22-79:12.

Sgt. Richard Stoen spoke with Todd Hines at the scene and then
took him to the police station to interview him. During the course of
that interview at the station, Hines told the officer that when he had
heard Mong rack a gun, Hines went into his house and got his gun.
Tr. 111, 107:16-108:16; 130:9-19.

Rachel Kleiber testified for the defense. She testified that Mong
was living with her and her fiancé on June 1, 2018; he lived with them
for three to five months. She never saw a firearm in Mong’s portion
of the house. Tr. III, 196:10-198:22; 216:14-23. Ms. Kleiber knew
Mong for about five years. During that time, she never saw Mong
with a firearm. Tr. III, 216:24-217:5.

Anthony Mong testified at his trial. He was thirty-one years old
at the time of trial. Tr. IV, 11:16-12:7. He had a red Cadillac stored at
the Hines residence. While Mong and Madison were still dating, they
planned to fix the Cadillac as they needed a car. Todd Hines was
going to help them. Tr. IV, there because Todd Hines was goin. Tr.
IV, 20:24-23:16. After Mong and Madison broke up, Mong wanted

his car back. Tr. IV, 23:17-24. On May 31, 2018, Mong went to the
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Hines residence and spoke with Todd. Todd told Mong to return over
the weekend to get the car because Madison had the keys and title
and she was not home at the time. Tr. IV, 24:3-17.

Mong testified that on the evening of June 1, 2018, he picked up
Brandon Henlon. He and Rachel Janousek picked up Henlon, then
dropped Janousek off at her job. Tr. IV, 25:21-28:2. Mong and
Henlon then went to the home of Rachel Kleiber. Mong ran inside
and “grabbed a couple items,” then he and Henlon sat in the car and
smoked marijuana for about forty-five minutes. Tr. IV, 28:3-14.

When they were done smoking, Mong testified, he and Henlon
drove around for half an hour. Mong was driving, though he did not
have a license. Mong decided he wanted to pick up the Cadillac since
Henlon could drive one of the cars. Tr. IV, 28:19-340:1.

Mong testified that he drove to the Hines residence in Rachel’s
car. They had the music in the car blasting. When they got to the
Hines’ residence, Mong saw Todd Hines, Ricco Martin, Shane Woods,
and David Woods sitting outside. He testified that he started to pull
into the driveway, but then realized that would block the Cadillac in,

so he drove on, turned around in a nearby school area, returned to
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Hines’ house, and parked in front of a large tree in the Hines’ yard.
Tr. 1V, 30:2-5; 31:25-33:16.

Mong testified that he told Henlon to stay in the car because
Henlon was going to drive Rachel’s car and Mong would drive the
Cadillac. Mong testified that he got out of the car. He was holding his
cell phone in his hand because he was still texting as he got out of the
car and walked up the driveway. Tr. IV, 33:17-36:12. As he walked,
Mong noticed that Todd Hines had a gun. Mong testified that he saw
Ricco Martin “go for” Todd’s gun and that is when Mong ducked
behind the tree. Mong testified that he “felt like I was going to get
shot.” Tr. 1V, 33:17-34:1; 36:1 — 37:7.

Mong stated that he heard a shot fired from the direction of the
group of people in Hines’ yard. Then, he heard a second shot fired
from behind him. Tr. IV, 37:8-38:9; 59:2-18; 63:13-64:14. He stated
that the shot came “from the car” — the Hyndai Sonata that Mong
drove to the scene. Tr. IV, 81:21-82:17. He testified, though, that
Henlon never got out of the car. Tr. IV, 62:9-20. He also testified
that he did not know that Henlon had a gun and had not seen it while

the two were in the car together. Tr. IV, 90:13-91:10.
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The group of people started to disperse and Mong ran to the
car, got into the driver’s seat, and sped away. Tr. IV, 38:2-25. He
testified that when he got into the car he saw that Henlon had a gun
in his hand. Tr.IV, 39:1-8. Mong testified that he did not see anyone
get shot at the Hines residence. Tr. IV, 39:9-11.

Mong testified that they stopped a block away and Henlon got
in the driver’s seat because Hanlon had a license. Then, they went to
Rachel Kleiber’s house and dropped off the car and went their
separate ways. Tr. IV, 39:1-16; 60:7-61:15. Mong testified that he hid
out in a hotel because he was afraid of someone coming after him or
shooting him. The next morning, a friend drove him to Las Vegas.

He went to Las Vegas because his mother lives there and his mother
was sick so he “needed to see her anyway. Tr. IV, 39:19-41:5; 79:7-9.

Mong testified that he did not have a gun and did not intend to
shoot or fight Ricco Martin, Shane Woods, or anyone else at the
Hines residence. He testified that he had his black cell phone in his
hand when he approached the Hines residence. Tr. IV, 41:8-22; 43:6-
13. He testified that he had no problem with Shane Woods. Tr. IV,

50:18-20.
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Mong testified that he did not learn that Shane Woods had been
shot until a couple days after he got to Las Vegas. Mong was arrested
in Las Vegas two months later. During the two months he was there,
he did not try to contact authorities in Iowa to report that Henlon had
shot Shane because Henlon was his best friend and Mong thought
that Henlon had saved his life. Tr. IV, 42:15-43:5; 79:21-80:10; 81:13-
20. Henlon died in February of 2019, before trial. Mong did not tell
anyone before Henlon died that it was Henlon who shot Shane Woods
or that Henlon had fired the second shot, though he did testify that he
had told his lawyer. Tr. IV, 55:12-15; 85:20-90:6.

Additional facts will be discussed where relevant to the State’s
argument, below.

ARGUMENT
The Defendant Failed to Establish the Jury Pool in his

case Violated the Fair Cross-Section Requirements of
the Federal and State Constitutions.

Preservation of Error

The State does not challenge error preservation. On the first
day of trial, before the start of voir dire, the defendant made an oral
motion challenging the jury panel because of alleged deficient
representation of African Americans in the jury pool. Specifically, the

defense asserted that the jury pool violated both the Sixth
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Amendment of the United States Constitution, and article I, section
10 of the Iowa Constitution for failure to represent a fair-cross-
section of the community. Tr. I, 62:19-71:21. In arguing his motion,
defense counsel advised the district court that of the forty names
drawn for Mong’s jury panel, only one juror identified himself or
herself as African-American. Tr. I, 63:4-24. Mong objected only to
the composition of the jury panel, rather than to the jury pool, the
State does not challenge error preservation to Mong’s appellate
challenge to the pool. The authority cited by Mong in support of his
motion, State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 was a case reviewing the
composition of the jury pool, the prosecutor pointed out that Plain
requires proof of systemic exclusion from the jury pool rather than
the panel, and the district court ruled on Mong’s motion as if it were a
challenge to the jury pool. See, Tr. I, 63:5-71:21. The district court’s
ruling preserved error for Mong. State v. Paredes, 775 N.W.2d 554,

561 (Iowa 2009).!

1 Generally, objections to evidence or other matters and
proceedings must be made as soon as the grounds for doing so
become apparent. See State v. Johnson, 476 N.W. 2d 330, 333 (Iowa
1991); State v. Yaw, 398 N.W. 2d 803, 805 (Iowa 1987). Normally,
the State would argue that Mong waived his objection to the
composition of the jury pool by waiting until the day of trial to raise
his challenge rather than filing a written motion once the jury pool
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Mong raises an alternative claim that if his attorney failed to
preserve error, his attorney was ineffective. Because the State is not
challenging error preservation, the Court need not reach Mong’s
claim of ineffective assistance.?

Scope and Standard of Review

The Court reviews de novo Mong’s claim that he was denied his
right to fair trial under the United States and Iowa constitutions. See
State v. Plain, 898 N.W. 2d 801, 810 (Iowa 2017) (modified on other

grounds by State v. Lilly, 930 N.W. 2d 293, 302 (Iowa 2019)).

questionnaires were available. However, the prosecutor at trial did
object to the timeliness of Mong’s motion and did not oppose
conducting an evidentiary hearing on the cross-section challenge. Tr.
Vol. I, p. 21, line 23 — p.29, line 8; Vol. II, p. 15, line 25 — p.16, line 12;
Vol. I11, p. 7, line 3 — p. 11, line 7. Under these circumstances, the
State agrees that the defendant’s general claim under both the state
and federal constitutions has been preserved. See Lamasters v. State,
821 N.W. 2d 856, 863 (Iowa 2012).

2 A 2019 amendment to Iowa Code section 814.7 deprives the
Court of jurisdiction over claims of ineffective assistance of counsel
on direct appeal. The amendment to section 814.7 went into effect on
July 1, 2019 and applies to those cases in which judgment and
sentence is entered on or after July 1, 2019. State v. Macke, 933
N.W.2d 226, 228 (Iowa 2019); see also State v. Trane, 934 N.W.2d
447, 464-65 (Iowa 2019) (summarizing Macke, noting that SF589
does not apply “if the appeal was already pending on July 1, 2019,”
but does apply to later appeals); State v. Draine, 936 N.W.2d 205,
206 (Iowa 2019). Judgment and sentence in Mong’s ’s case was
entered on May 23, 2019. Judgement & Sent.; App. . Thus, the
amendment to section 814.7 does not apply to Mong’s case.

29



Because Mong does not urge a separate rule or analytical framework
under the state constitution, the same standards are applied under
both constitutions. See State v. Lowe, 812 N.W. 2d 554, 566 (Iowa to
12).

Mong makes an alternative claim of ineffective assistance of
counsel. As argued below, that claim has been waived. However,
should the Court reach that claim, review would be de novo. Taylor
v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984).

Merits

Anthony Mong challenges his convictions on the ground that he
was denied his state and federal right to trial by a fair cross-section of
the community. His claim should be rejected as he had not met his
burden to establish that African Americans were underrepresented in
the venire from which his jury was selected and has not met his
burden to show that the alleged underrepresentation was due to
systemic exclusion of African Americans in the jury selection process.
His claim therefore fails.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution
provides that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy

the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State
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and district wherein the crime shall have been committed.” U.S.
Const. amend. VI. Likewise, article I, section 10 of the Iowa
Constitution provides a right to trial before “an impartial jury.” State
v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d 293, 300 (Iowa 2019). The right to an impartial
jury entitles the criminally accused to a jury drawn from a fair cross-
section of the community. Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 530
(1975).

When faced with a Sixth Amendment claim of unconstitutional
underrepresentation of a racial group in a jury pool, Iowa follows the
three-part test set forth in Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979). To
establish a prima facie violation of the fair cross-section requirements
of the Sixth Amendment, the defendant must establish the following:

(1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a “distinctive”

group in the community; (2) that the representation of this

group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair

and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons

in the community; and (3) that this underrepresentation is

due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-
selection process.

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d at 821—22 (quoting Duren v. Missourti,

439 U.S. at 364).

Our Court has explained that, under the second Duren/Plain

prong, the percentage of the distinctive group in the population
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should be determined using the most recent available census data.
State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 629—30 (Iowa 2019) (citing Lilly,
930 N.W.2d at 304; State v. Veal, 930 N.W.2d 319, 328 (Iowa 2019)).
These data may be adjusted to account for those who are actually
eligible to serve as jurors, for example, by eliminating the population
that is under eighteen and the population (if any) that is incarcerated
in a state prison located in the county. Williams, 929 N.W.2d at 630.

For Sixth Amendment purposes, the defendant must then show
that the percentage of the group in the jury pool is less than this
expected percentage by at least two standard deviations. Lilly, 930
N.W.2d at 303 (citing Castaneda v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482, 496 n.17
(1977)); Williams, 929 N.W.2d at 630; Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 302-305.
Under the Iowa Constitution, the defendant must show only one
standard deviation. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 304. Pools may be
aggregated, so long as pools closer in time to the trial date are not
omitted when earlier pools are included. Williams, 929 N.W.2d at
630; Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 305. The aggregation of pools can help
solve the problem with performing statistical analysis on small

numbers. Williams, 929 N.W.2d at 630.
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Under the third prong of the Duren/Plain analysis, the
defendant must show that some practice or practices caused the
underrepresentation. Duren, 439 U.S. at 364; Plain, 898 N.W.2d at
822; Williams, 929 N.W.2d at 630.

A. Mong Has Satisfied the First Prong of the
Plain/Duran Test.

Mong asserts the fair cross-section requirement was violated
because African Americans constitute a distinctive group for purposes
of the constitutional right to an impartial jury. The State agrees. See,
United States v. Weaver, 267 F. 3d 231, 240 (3d Cir. 2001). Thus,
Mong has satisfied the first prong of the Duren test.

B. Mong Has Not Satisfied the Second Prong of the
Plain/Duran Test; He Has Not Established That

African-Americans Were Underrepresented in
his Jury Pool.

The second prong of the Plain/Duren test is whether there is a
fair and reasonable representation of the distinctive group in the jury
pool. A challenger must establish that “the representation of the
group in the jury venires” is not “fair and reasonable in relation to the
number of such persons in the community.” See, Weaver, 267 F. 3d at
240. Citing to State v. Plain, Mong asserts that there are three tests

available to determine whether a distinctive group is
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underrepresented in the jury pool: absolute disparity, comparative
disparity and standard deviation. Defendant’s Brief at 30. However,
in Lilly and Veal, our Court held that disparity is to be determined
solely under the standard deviation method. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at
302-305; Veal, 930 N.W.2d at 328. Those cases were decided on May
24, 2019. Mong filed his notice of appeal on May 30. Notice of
Appeal3; App. __ . Consequently, the decisions in Lilly and Veal
apply to this case on appeal and review of Mong’s challenge to his jury
is limited to analysis under the standard deviation test. See State v.
Royer, 436 N.W. 2d 637, 640 (Iowa 1989) (new appellate decision
generally applicable to other similar cases then pending on direct
appeal).

Mong has not shown that he has met the standard deviation
test, or either of the other two tests discussed in Plain. In the district
court, Mong failed to present any evidence to support his claim of
unconstitutional underrepresentation of a racial group in his jury
venire. Mong merely pointed out to the district court that in his jury

panel of forty potential jurors, only one juror self-identified as Black

3 EDMS shows the notice of appeal as filed both May 30, 2019 and
June 3, 2019. The certified notice of appeal was filed on June 3, 2019.
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and/or African American. Tr. I, 63:4-12. Defense counsel asserted
that the most recent census records for Polk County showed that
seven percent of the population is African American. Mong then
attempted to calculate the absolute and comparative disparities using
that asserted census data and the make-up of Mong’s jury panel. He
did not address the standard deviation test and did not address any
disparity in his jury pool.

Mong did not present any evidence in support of his claim that
African Americans were underrepresented. He did not make the
juror questionnaires of his jury pool, or even his jury panel, part of
the record and he did not present evidence establishing what
percentage of the population in Polk County is African American.
Counsel’s argument will not substitute for evidence.

Mong failed to offer evidence to support his claim of
underrepresentation even though the district court bent over
backwards to give Mong an opportunity to do so. When defense
counsel did not provide the court with the juror questionnaires
during the hearing on Mong’s challenge to his jury, the district court
assisted Mong in gathering the necessary information. The court

called the clerk of court and instructed the clerk to provide defense
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counsel with the “bios” of all of the 195 people who showed up for jury
duty. The district court advised Mong’s attorney that if he had
evidence of systemic exclusion based upon that jury pool information,
he could raise the issue again. Tr. I, 69:20-71:21. Mong never raised
the issue again.

Mong never provided evidence of a racial disparity in his jury
pool. Thus, he failed to meet his burden of establishing the second
part of the Duren test.

Moreover, Mong’s argument in the district court was based
upon the wrong data set. While Mong asserted that only one of the
forty jurors who made up his jury panel was African American, Mong
never discussed the racial composition of the jury pool from which his
panel was chosen. He discussed only the racial make-up of those
jurors who had been assigned to his trial.4 “The Plain/Duren right
applies to the jury pool.” State v. Wilson, 941 N.W.2d 579, 593 (Iowa

2020) (citing Plain, 898 N.W.2d at 822 (“[A] defendant must

4 “Under Iowa’s jury-selection statutes, a jury ‘pool’ (i.e., venire)
consists of all persons who are summoned for jury service and who
report. A jury ‘panel’ consists of ‘those jurors drawn or assigned for
service to a courtroom, judge, or trial.”” State v. Gibson, No. 19-0779,
2020 WL 3569566, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. July 1, 2020) (quoting Plain,
898 N.W.2d at 821 n.5 (in turn citing Iowa Code § 607A.3 (2015)).
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establish the proportion of group members in the jury pool is under
representative....”); and citing Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 305 (“A defendant
whose jury pool has a percentage of the distinctive group at least as
large as the percentage of that group in the jury-eligible population
has not had his or her right to a fair cross section infringed ....”)).

Mong did not meet his burden to show that African Americans
were underrepresented in his jury pool. Consequently, the district
court properly denied Mong’s fair-cross-section challenge. Wilson,
941 N.W.2d at 593 (holding that the district court properly denied
Wilson’s challenge to his jury as Wilson did not make a record as to
the racial makeup of jurors in the entire jury pool that day— he
showed underrepresentation only in the subset of jurors who had
been assigned to his trial.).

C. Mong Has Not Established Systemic Exclusion.

The third requirement for a successful fair cross-section
challenge is to establish that the alleged underrepresentation is due to
systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process. Plain,
898 N.W.2d at 821-22 (quoting Duren, 439 U.S. at 364).
“[Dlisproportionate exclusion of a distinctive group from the venire

need not be intentional to be unconstitutional, but it must be
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systematic.” Randolph v. California, 380 F. 3d 1133, 1141 (9t Cir.
2004). Exclusion must be “inherent in the particular jury-selection

29

process utilized.”” Plain, 898 N.W. 2d at 824 (quoting Duren, 439
U.S. at 366). Mong has failed to meet this requirement.

In the district court, Mong did not present either evidence or
argument on systemic exclusion of African-American jurors. In
arguing that Mong was being denied his right to a fair cross-section,
defense counsel stated,

Moving to the third prong of the [ Duran] test, systematic
exclusion, we don’t have the information available as to whether
or not the — how the panel was selected, what the grounds are for
picking jurors.

We would indicate that the test, as it currently stands,
makes it very difficult to establish the third prong. But given the
results of the panel, the absolute disparity, the comparative
disparity, the fact that there’s only one African-American juror
on this entire panel, we would urge that is proof of systemic
exclusion and, therefore, we're raising a challenge to the panel.

Tr. I, 64:24-65:10.

Later, when specifically invited by the district court to present
evidence of systemic exclusion of African-Americans, defense counsel
responded,

I don’t have evidence of that, Your Honor. The argument that I

was making is that it’s very difficult to fulfill that prong under the
[Duren] test and , therefore, it is an unfair test.
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Tr. I, 68:19-69:2. After a recess, the district court again advised the
defense that it would take evidence on systemic exclusion. Defense
counsel simply responded that “I've already spoken to the evidence I
have of that.” Tr. I, 70:3-71:8.

On appeal, the defendant likewise fails to identify any systemic
exclusion. He appears to argue that evidence of statistical disparity of
representation of African Americans in his jury panel is alone
sufficient to establish systematic exclusion in this case. Defendant’s
Brief at 26-32. The defendant is incorrect. As previously argued, he
has not established any underrepresentation in violation of the fair-
cross-section requirement. Furthermore, even if he had done so, there
is still no showing of a causal link between any alleged
underrepresentation and the procedures used to select Mong’s jury
pool.

Barring exceptional demonstrations of total exclusion over time,
statistics alone cannot prove that underrepresentation is systematic.
See United States v. Rodriguez, 581 F.3d 775, 790 (8th Cir. 2009)
(quoting United States v. Morin, 338 F.3d 838, 844 (8th Cir. 2003))
(“[E]thnic and racial disparities between the general population and

jury pools do not by themselves invalidate the use of [specific source]
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lists and cannot establish the systematic exclusion of allegedly under-
represented groups.”); United States v. Hernandez-Estrada, 749 F.3d
1154, 1166 (9th Cir. 2014) (“[W]hile Hernandez has introduced
significant evidence regarding underrepresentation . . . , he has failed
to provide evidence that this underrepresentation is due to the system
employed . .., and has therefore failed to establish a prima facie case
under Duren.”); People v. Henriquez, 406 P.3d 748, 763 (Cal. 2017).

The defendant never articulated any theory of systematic
exclusion below and does not present such a theory on appeal, aside
from his apparent claim statistics alone may be sufficient. But that
method of proof is specifically foreclosed by Lilly. Indeed, it was
already foreclosed by the Plain decision in 2017, which Lilly took
pains to point out:

We said in Plain, “[T]he defendant must show
evidence of a statistical disparity over time that is

attributable to the system for compiling jury pools.” 898
N.W.2d at 824 (emphasis added).

We also quoted a law student note in Plain for the following
point: “If there is a pattern of underrepresentation of
certain groups on jury venires, it stands to reason that
some aspect of the jury-selection procedure is causing that
underrepresentation.” 898 N.W.2d at 824 (quoting David
M. Coriell, Note, An (Un)fair Cross Section: How the
Application of Duren Undermines the Jury, 100 CORNELL
L. REv. 463, 481 (2015)). However, his quotation about
what “stands to reason” should not be taken as a suggestion
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that we were eliminating the third prong of the prima facie
case. To the contrary, we repeatedly noted that the
defendant had the burden to establish systematic
exclusion, not merely underrepresentation.

Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 306 & n.8. The district court issued the ruling in
this case, before Lilly was decided. However, even before Lilly, it was
well-established that the defendant needs to prove causation, and
that statistics alone are insufficient. Plain, 898 N.W.2d at 824.

Lilly elaborated on the manner of proof required to carry the
burden of establishing systematic exclusion: a litigant must allege a
causal link between jury management and underrepresentation, and
then prove their causation theory with some kind of evidence:

Litigants alleging a violation of the fair cross section

requirement would still have to demonstrate that the

underrepresentation was the result of the court’s failure to
practice effective jury system management. This would
almost always require expert testimony concerning the
precise point of the juror summoning and qualification
process in which members of distinctive groups were
excluded from the jury pool and a plausible explanation of

how the operation of the jury system resulted in their

exclusion. Mere speculation about the possible causes of

underrepresentation will not substitute for a credible
showing of evidence supporting those allegations.

Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 307 (quoting Paula Hannaford-Agor, Systematic
Negligence in Jury Operations: Why the Definition of Systematic

Exclusion in Fair Cross Section Claims Must Be Expanded, 59 DRAKE
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L. REv., 761, 790—91 (2011)). Mong did not even attempt to carry his
burden to show systemic exclusion.

Mong has failed to show underrepresentation is “inherent in the
particular jury-selection process utilized.” State v. Fetters, 562
N.W.2d 770, 777 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997) (quoting Duren, 439 U.S. at
366). Both before and after Lilly, there has always been a
requirement that a defendant raising a fair-cross-section challenge to
a jury panel must “show causation, that is, that underrepresentation

9

is produced by some aspect of the system.” See, Jones v. State, No.
18—0134, 2019 WL 3330451, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. July 24, 2019)
(quoting Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 306); accord Williams, 929 N.W.2d at
630 (“Once underrepresentation has been shown, the defendant must
then show that some practice or practices caused the
underrepresentation—i.e. the third Duren/Plain prong.”); Fetters,
562 N.W.2d at 777 (quoting Duren, 439 U.S. at 366). Having failed to
meet the requirement of causation, even assuming arguendo

improper representation of African Americans, the district court

rightly rejected the defendant’s challenge to the jury.
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D.Mong’s Claim Should Be Rejected without
Remanding to the District Court.

Finally, Mong notes that the record is inadequate to establish a
fair-cross-section claim, places the blame for the lack of evidence on
the district court, and seeks a remand to allow him to develop a
record. Following the recent decisions in State v. Lilly, State v. Veal,
and State v. Williams, appellate courts have dealt with fair-cross-
section challenges that were initially ruled on before those decisions,
by remanding them for consideration under the new standards for
judging underrepresentation and systematic exclusion. See, e.g.,
State v. Shaw, No. 18—0421, 2019 WL 5790884, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App.
Nov. 6, 2019); State v. Voigts, No. 18—1927, 2019 WL 5424965, at *2
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 23, 2019). Although the defendant here requests
a remand, such is not appropriate in this case for two reasons. First,
while the Court has remanded in cases in which the district court
ruled prior to issuance of the Court’s decisions in Lilly, Veal, and
Williams, it has done so to permit analysis of the issue under its more
recent decisions. It has not remanded to permit defendants to
present additional evidence. Because Mong failed present evidence
on the second and third prongs of the Duran test, a remand would

serve no purpose. Second, Mong’s apparent argument on appeal that
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he need not, and could not, prove causation for systematic exclusion
was already wrong before Lilly was decided, as the Court explained in
Lilly. See Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 306 & n.8. A litigant should not be
given a second crack at carrying his burden on remand as a reward
for arguing that his burdens do not exist. This claim was meritless
when it was rejected, and nothing can save it.

Mong has failed to establish that he was denied a trial by a fair
cross-section of the community. His challenge to his convictions
must be rejected. Further, his request for a remand should be denied.
A remand would serve no purpose as Mong failed to offer any
evidence on the second and third prongs of the Duran test.
Therefore, whether viewed under this Court’s holding in Plain or its
subsequent decisions in Lilly, Veal, and Williams, the lack of
evidence would be fatal to Mong’s claim.

Finally, Mong has raised an alternative claim of ineffective
assistance of counsel. Mong has not, however, explained in what
manner he believes that counsel was ineffective. His bare assertion
that counsel was ineffective fails to state the specific ways in which
counsel's performance was inadequate and identify how competent

representation probably would have changed the outcome. See State
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v. Astello, 602 N.W.2d 190, 198 (Iowa Ct.App.1999). It also fails to
comply with our rules of appellate procedure. See Iowa R. App. P.
6.14(1). The Court is not bound to consider claims that fail to comply
with our procedural rules, Hanson v. Harveys Casino Hotel, 652
N.W.2d 841, 842 (Iowa Ct.App.2002), or that require the Court to
assume a partisan role and undertake a party's research and
advocacy, State v. Stoen, 596 N.W.2d 504, 507 (Ilowa 1999).

To the extent that Mong’s brief might be read to claim that
counsel was ineffective in failing to provide the district court with
evidence of underrepresentation of African Americans or of systemic
exclusion, that claim, too, must be rejected in this direct appeal. To
prevail on an ineffective assistance claim involving complaints of
specific acts or omissions, the defendant must show that "(1) counsel
failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) prejudice resulted
therefrom." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984);
State v. Miles, 344 N.W.2d 231, 233-34 (Iowa 1984); State v. Clay,
824 N.W.2d 488, 495 (Iowa 2012). The existing record is not

adequate to reach that issue.
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II.

The District Court Did Not Err in Denying Mong’s
Motion to Compel Witness Testimony as the Witness
Was Asserting His Fifth Amendment Right against
Self-Incrimination.

Preservation of Error

The State does not challenge preservation of Mong’s claim that
the district court erred in denying his motion to compel testimony.
Mong made a written motion and the district court denied his
motion. That was adequate to preserve error.

However, to the extent that Mong may be arguing that trial
counsel was ineffective in failing to make a record of the questions
defense counsel intended to ask the witness, Mong has waived that
claim by failing to argue it. His bare assertion that counsel was
ineffective fails to state the specific ways in which counsel's
performance was inadequate and identify how competent
representation probably would have changed the outcome. See
Astello, 602 N.W.2d at 198. It also fails to comply with our rules of
appellate procedure. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(1). The Court is not
bound to consider claims that fail to comply with our procedural
rules, Hanson, 652 N.W.2d at 842, or that require the Court to
assume a partisan role and undertake a party's research and

advocacy, Stoen, 596 N.W.2d at 507.
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Scope and Standard of Review

The Court reviews de novo Mong’s constitutional claim that his
right to compulsory process was violated. State v. Heard, 934
N.W.2d 433, 439 (Iowa 2019); State v. Russell, 897 N.W.2d 717, 724
(Iowa 2017). Should the Court reach Mong’s alternative claim of
ineffective of trial counsel, that claim also would be reviewed de novo.
Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984).

Merits

Next, Mong challenges his convictions on the ground that the
district denied his motion to compel testimony from Tyrone Hughes,
Jr. The district court properly denied Mong’s motion as Hughes was
asserting his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination.
Mong’s challenge should be rejected.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution
provides, “No person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be
a witness against himself.” U.S. Const. amend. V. The Fifth
Amendment’s protections extend to nonparty witnesses. State v.
Heard, 934 N.W.2d 433, 439—40 (Iowa 2019) (citing Ohio v. Reiner,

532 U.S. 17 (2001) (per curiam)).

47



“[W]hen a witness' privilege against self-incrimination under the

Fifth Amendment collides with an accused’s right to compulsory

process under the Sixth Amendment, the latter must give way.”
Heard, 934 N.W.2d at 439—40 (quoting State v. McDowell, 247
N.W.2d 499, 500—501 (Iowa 1976) (collecting cases)).

“The privilege against self-incrimination extends to answers
that ‘would furnish a link in the chain of evidence needed to prosecute

%

the claimant for a ... crime.” Heard, 934 N.W.2d at 440 (quoting
Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479, 486 (1951)). A witness
cannot claim the privilege “unless he has reasonable cause to
apprehend danger from a direct answer.” State v. Parham, 220
N.W.2d 623, 627 (Iowa 1974). The federal standard set out in
Hoffman applies in a prosecution by a state in determining whether
the privilege is properly asserted. Heard, 934 N.W2ad at 440. The
trial court has the discretion to decide if the witness has grounds to
assert the privilege against self-incrimination and may require the
witness to answer if “it clearly appears to the court that he is
mistaken.” Heard, 934 N.Wad at 440 (cleaned up); Parham, 220
N.W.2d at 626.

In Bedwell, our Court reviewed the district court’s refusal to

permit Bedwell to call as a witness his companion at the scene of the
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crime. This determination was based on the fact that this witness had
indicated, through counsel, an intention to claim his fifth amendment
privilege against self-incrimination. Bedwell argued that restrictions
against calling witnesses before the jury who have indicated an
intention to invoke their fifth amendment privileges only preclude the
State from calling such witnesses and that there is no similar
restriction against a defendant calling a witness who has
predetermined to invoke the privilege. State v. Bedwell, 417 N.W.2d
66, 69 (Iowa 1987).

Our Supreme Court held that the district court properly refused
to let Bedwell call the witness. It found that it is improper to permit a
defendant to call a witness predetermined to invoke his fifth
amendment privilege. It further found that the jury is not entitled to
draw any inference from the decision of a witness to exercise his
constitutional privilege, whether those inferences be favorable to the
prosecution or the defense. Bedwell, 417 N.W.2d at 69.

Our court recently revisited Bedwell and reached the same
conclusion. In Heard, the defense gave the trial judge the specific
questions he intended to ask Brown to review before the judge

exercised his discretion to allow Brown to invoke a blanket privilege
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against self-incrimination. The questions were aimed at impeaching
Brown, which would be unnecessary without his trial testimony, or at
implicating Brown in the murder by placing him in the group and at
the scene of the murder, which would incriminate Brown and
classically support his assertion of the Fifth Amendment privilege.
The Court held that the district court correctly ruled Brown was
entitled to a blanket assertion of the privilege. State v. Heard, 934
N.W.2d 433, 441 (Iowa 2019)

Similarly, here, Hughes made a blanket assertion of this Fifth
Amendment right against self-incrimination. Hughes was relying on
the advice of his attorney in making a blanket assertion. Tr. I, 9:22-
10:23. If the district court had compelled Hughes to testify, Hughes
would have been forced assert his Fifth Amendment privilege in front
of the jury and would have created an inference of Hughes’ guilt. Our
Court has provided a “categorical prohibition” on calling a witness to
the stand simply to have the jury hear him invoke the privilege in
order to infer his guilt. Heard, 934 N.W.2d at 441 (citing McDowell,
247 N.W.2d 499 and Bedwell, 417 N.W.2d at 69).

In the district court, Mong attempted to distinguish Heard on

the ground that the witness in Heard had testified in Heard’s first
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trial and then invoked his Fifth Amendment rights in Heard’s retrial.
In Heard, the Court rejected that basis for distinction. The Court
noted that “a waiver of a [F]ifth [A]mendment privilege is limited to
the particular proceeding in which the waiver occurs.” Heard, 934
N.W.2d at 442 (cleaned up). The Court concluded that the witness’
waiver of his privilege in Heard’s first trial did not preclude him from
invoking the privilege at the second trial because those trials were
separate proceedings. Heard, 934 N.W.2d at 442—43.

On appeal, Mong argues that the district court made no inquiry
into whether Hughes had grounds to assert the privilege against self-
incrimination. Here, the district court was advised that the subject
matter of the defense’s questions to Hughes would revolve around a
statement Hughes had given claiming that Brandon Henlon had been
in the same prison pod with Hughes and had told Hughes that he had
committed the crimes for which Mong was on trial. Henlon died
sometime around the time Hughes wrote a statement implicating

Henlon and prior to trial. Tr. I, 6:21-8:12.5 If the statement Hughes

5 At a scheduled deposition for Hughes, defense submitted a list of
the questions he wished to ask of Hughes. Hughes’ attorney
confirmed that Hughes would invoke his Fifth Amendment right as to
all of those questions. Attachment to State’s Resistance to Motion to
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wrote falsely claimed that Henlon had confessed to him, then Hughes
would have committed perjury by testifying about it at trial. The
record also shows that Hughes’ attorney was advising him to invoke
the Fifth Amendment. This was sufficient to permit the district court
to find that Hughes could invoke the Fifth Amendment as to the
whole subject matter of what he claimed to have learned from
Henlon.

The district court properly found that Hughes could invoke the
protections of the Fifth Amendment and that he could do so in a
blanket invocation outside the presence of the jury. See, Heard, 934
N.W.2d at 441 (Given that there was no element of the witness’
testimony that would not be incriminating, we concluded the blanket
assertion of privilege was appropriate.); Bedwell, 417 N.W.2d at 69
(Holding that it is improper for a prosecutor to require a witness to
claim his privilege against self-incrimination in the presence of the
jury when, as in this case, the prosecutor knows or has reason to
anticipate the witness will assert it.); McDowell, 247 N.W.2d at 501

(witness could assert blanket privilege).

Compel (transcript of Hughes’ deposition); App. . However,
those questions are not contained in the record.
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I11.

Mong makes an alternative argument of ineffective assistance of
counsel. As noted above, that bare assertion is not sufficient to obtain
review. To establish that his attorney was ineffective, Mong must
show (1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) prejudice
resulted therefrom. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688
(1984); State v. Miles, 344 N.W.2d 231, 233-34 (Iowa 1984); State v.
Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 495 (Iowa 2012). Mong has not satisfied
either requirement. The Court should reject this alternative claim.

There is Sufficient Evidence to Support Mong’s

Convictions for Attempted Murder, Intimidation with

a Dangerous Weapon with Intent, and Willful Injury

Causing Bodily Injury.

Preservation of Error

A defendant must preserve error by making a motion for
judgment of acquittal. State v. Grosvenor, 402 N.W.2d 402, 406
(Iowa 1987); State v. Dickerson, 313 N.W.2d 526, 528 (Iowa 1981). If
the motion for judgment of acquittal is limited to specific grounds,
then the challenge on appeal should be limited to those same
grounds. State v. Schertz, 328 N.W.2d 320, 321 (Iowa 1982). Mong’s
motions for judgment of acquittal made at the close of the State’s case

and at the close of all the evidence were adequate to preserve error.

See, Tr. 111, 175:6-185:23; Tr. IV, 101:23-104:7.
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Scope and Standard of Review

The Court reviews a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence
for correction of errors of law. If the verdict is supported by
substantial evidence, the Court will uphold a finding of guilt.
“Substantial evidence” is that upon which a rational trier of fact could
find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. State v.
Henderson, 696 N.W.2d 5, 7 (Iowa 2005); State v. Hagedorn, 679
N.W.2d 666, 668-69 (Iowa 2004). Mong’s motions for judgment of
acquittal made at the close of the State’s case and renewed at the close
of all the evidence, and the district court’s denial of his motions, were
sufficient to preserve his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence.
See, Tr. 111, 175:7-185:23; Tr. IV, 101:23-104:7

Merits

Mong challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support his
convictions for attempted murder, intimidation with a dangerous
weapon, and willful injury causing bodily injury. He does not
challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction for
going armed with intent. He challenges the sufficiency of the
evidence to prove that he shot a gun and also challenges the

sufficiency of the evidence to prove the specific intent elements of his
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crimes. His challenge to his convictions should be rejected as there is
sufficient evidence to establish the challenged elements.

The test for whether the evidence is sufficient to withstand
appellate scrutiny and support a verdict is whether the evidence is
"substantial." State v. Aldape, 307 N.W.2d 32, 39 (Iowa 1981). In
making that determination, the Court reviews the record in the light
most favorable to the State. Henderson, 696 N.W.2d at7. In
reviewing the evidence in this "favorable light," the Court makes any
legitimate inferences and presumptions which may fairly and
reasonably be deduced from the evidence in the record. State v. Bass,
349 N.W.2d 498 (Iowa 1984). The findings of the factfinder are to be
broadly and liberally construed, rather than narrowly or technically,
and in cases of ambiguity they will be construed to uphold, rather
than defeat, the verdict. State v. Price, 365 N.W.2d 632, 633 (Iowa
Ct. App. 1985). Evidence meets the threshold criterion of
substantiality if it would convince a rational factfinder that the
defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. LeGear, 346
N.W.ad 21, 23 (Iowa 1984).

The jury members is free to give each witness’ testimony such

weight as it thinks it thought it should receive. State v. Shanahan,
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712 N.W.2d 121, 135 (Iowa 2006) (citing State v. Schrier, 300 N.W.2d
305, 309 (Iowa 1981)). The jury is free to accept or reject any of a
witness’ testimony. Shanahan, 712 N.W.2d at 135 (citing State v.
Thornton, 498 N.W.2d 670, 673 (Iowa 1993)). The function of the
jury is to weigh the evidence and “place credibility where it belongs.”
Shanahan, 712 N.W.2d at 135 (citing State v. Blair, 347 N.W.2d 416,
420 (Iowa 1984)).

Mong challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to prove that he
shot a firearm and to prove the intent elements of his crimes. The
evidence amply establishes those elements. Mong’s jury was
instructed that, for the purposes of the charges of attempted murder
and willful injury, the State was required to prove that Mong shot, or
shot at, Shane Woods with a firearm. Jury Instruction Nos. 17, 25
(marshalling instructions); App. ___ . His jury was instructed that
for the purposes of the charge of intimidation with a dangerous
weapon, the State was required to prove that Mong shot a dangerous
weapon. Jury Instruction No. 23 (marshalling instruction); App.
__. The dangerous weapon was a firearm. Instruction No. 34
(defining dangerous weapon); App. ___ . There was sufficient

evidence to prove that Mong fired a firearm.
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Mong also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to prove
the intent elements of the charges against him. Each of Mong’s
charges contained a specific intent element. For the purposes of the
charge of attempted murder, the State was required to prove that
Mong specifically intended to cause the death of Shane Woods. Jury
Instr. No. 17; App. ____. For the purposes of the charge of
intimidation with a dangerous weapon, the State was required to
prove that Mong had the specific intent to injure or cause fear or
anger in Shane Woods. Jury Instr. No. 23; App. ____. To prove that
Mong committed willful injury the State was required to show that
Mong specifically intended to cause a serious injury to Shane Woods.
Instruction No. 25; App. ____.

Mong’s challenge to the evidence to support his convictions is
based the language of the jury instructions that required the State to
prove that Mong intended to act upon Shane Woods. He contends
that the evidence was insufficient because to the evidence showed
that Mong wanted to kill, injure or cause fear or anger injury Ricco
Martin rather than Shane Woods. The flaw in Mong’s argument is
that his jury was also instructed on transferred intent, as follows.

Under the doctrine of transferred intent, once the intent to

inflict harm on one victim is established, the criminal intent
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transfers to any other victim who is actually assaulted. A party is

liable for a wrongful act, where there exists a criminal intent,

although the act done, is not that which was intended. The
wrongful intent to do one act, is transposed to the other, and
constitutes the same offense.

Jury Instruction No. 16; App. .

Under the doctrine of transferred intent, Mong was properly
convicted of attempted murder of Shane Woods, intimidation of
Wood with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury of Woods based
upon his act of shooting at Ricco Martin and his intent to kill,
seriously injury, and injure or cause fear and anger in Woods. The
evidence at trial showed that Mong’s intended target was Ricco
Martin. Mong was nursing a deep grudge against Ricco because both
men had been involved with Heather Martin. Mong and had made
numerous threats to shoot Ricco. The evidence shows that Mong shot
at Ricco Martin, but hit Shane Woods who was near Ricco at the time.
That evidence is summarized as follows.

Anthony Mong and Madison Hines had an on-and-of-again
dating relationship from November of 2107 until just before the
shooting on June 1, 2018. During that time, Ricco Martin and

Madison Hines were “friends with benefits.” Tr. II, 46:16-47:13;

49:4-24; 94:3-7. Mong was not happy that Ricco would visit Madison
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at the Madison family home and that Ricco would be there when he
visited. Tr. II, 49:25-50:17.

The year before the shooting, Ricco had received thirty to forty
intimidating text messages from Mong, one after the other. Ricco
changed his phone number to avoid receiving further messages from
Mong. Tr.II, 96:13-98:16.

Just before June 1, 2018, Ricco and Mong had an argument
during which told Ricco that “he wasn’t going to fight me; he was
going to shoot me.” That was the last time Ricco saw Mong before
June 1. Tr. II, 94:23-95:5; 96:6-9. Madison was present during that
argument and she heard Mong tell Ricco that, “he was done arguing,
he didn’t want to fight anymore, that he was just going to shoot
[Ricco].” Tr. II, 50:18-51:6.

Todd Hines also testified that Mong and Ricco Martin did not
get along. Within two weeks of June 1, Todd was present when Mong
threatened Ricco. Mong told Ricco that he would not fight him; he
was just going to shoot him. Tr. II, 208:21-210:4.

Heather Hines, too, was aware that there was a conflict between

Mong and Ricco. A few weeks before the shooting, she had heard
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Mong threaten to beat up Ricco or just shoot him. Tr. II, 164:7-23;
165:6-10. Tr. II, 163:21-164:6.

Around 8:00 p.m. on June 1, 2018, Todd Hines was outside in
his yard with his nephew David Wood, David’s father Shane Wood,
and Ricco Martin. Tr. II, 210:5-25. Todd noticed Mong driving down
the street in a Hyundai Sonata; the music in the car was blaring
loudly. Tr.II, 212:7-24. Todd saw Mong drive past his house, go
around the corner, turn around in the circle lot at the school and saw
him making his way back to Todd’s house. He thought, “Oh, boy, it’s
going to happen now.”

Todd ran inside to his bedroom, got his gun, and went back
outside. He had the gun tucked into the back of his waistband. Tr. II,
214:2-24. When he first walked outside with his gun, Todd saw Mong
walking into his driveway. He saw that Mong had a gun in his hand.
Tr. II, 218:25-219:12. Todd thought Mong was going to shoot Ricco.
Tr. II, 212:25-213:18. When Mong drove past his house the first time,
Todd heard Mong rack the gun, chamber a bullet. Tr. II, 219:13-
220:10; 223:16-23.

Todd told Mong, “Don’t do this.” He repeated the warning

twice. Then Todd ran into the house. He was inside the house but
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standing by the sliding door to his home and looking outside when he
heard Mong fire two shots. Tr. II, 215:4-8; 218:17-24; 228:21-23. He
turned around and told Shane to run because Mong was shooting.
Shane said, “I'm hit.” Tr. II, 218:4-10; 220:14-221:1.

Shane corroborated Todd Hines’ account of events. Shane saw
Mong drive by, pull up in front of the yard, but then drive on. He
watched as Mong went around the corner the school and turned
around and came back. Tr. II, 242:10-243:25. This time, Mong
stopped in front of the house, got out of the car, and walked to the
back of the car. By that time, Todd had gone into the house and come
back out. Shane heard Todd say, “Don’t Tony, don’t.” Shane looked
and saw that Mong was at the driveway with a gun pulled. Tr. II,
2444:1-20.

Shane did not have any ongoing conflict with Mong; he “had no
problems with him at all.” Tr. IT, 243:4-13. When he saw that Mong
had a gun, he did not run because he did not think he had a problem.
Shane just turned around to walk back towards the house. He heard a
shot and he was hit on the left side of his back. The bullet came out of
his arm. Tr. I, 244:21-245:2. At the time he was shot, Shane was

approximately six to eight feet from Ricco, who was standing by the
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front of the deck. Tr. III, 25:15-27:11; Exh. 10 (photograph); App.

Ricco Martin was outside with Todd Hines, David Woods, and
Shane Woods when Mong arrived. He, too, saw Mong drove by, make
a U-turn, and come back. Tr. II, 99:7 -100:11. Todd Hines told Ricco
to go inside, but he did not. Ricco saw Mong jump out of the car. He
saw Mong run behind a tree and shoot. Shane was hit. Tr. II, 100:12-
101:21. Ricco believed that Mong was trying to shoot him instead of
Shane. Tr. II, 102:20-23.

David Woods saw Anthony Mong drive by the Hines house.
Mong gave the men “a little stare down” as he drove by. David saw
Mong turn around at the school, then Mong “cranked his music and
came back.” Tr. II, 174:8-177:1.

David’s instincts told him that something was going to happen,
so he went to the garage and grabbed a ball bat. He could see in
Mong’s face that something was